



Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

Copreneurs' Coping Strategies for Work-Family Conflict

Eunice Peregrino-Dartey Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the <u>Business Administration</u>, <u>Management</u>, and <u>Operations Commons</u>, <u>Entrepreneurial</u> and <u>Small Business Operations Commons</u>, and the <u>Management Sciences and Quantitative Methods</u> Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Eunice Peregrino-Dartey

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. James Glenn, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Kim Critchlow, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Denise Land, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2018

Abstract

Copreneurs' Coping Strategies for Work-Family Conflict

by

Eunice Peregrino-Dartey

MBA, Ghana Institute of Management and Public Administration, 2006

BA, University of Ghana, 1997

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2018

Abstract

Family businesses including copreneurships have a high failure rate. Copreneurs experience work-family conflict (WFC), which can have a negative effect on business sustainability. The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that copreneurs used in managing WFC to achieve business sustainability for longer than 10 years. Three copreneurs from 3 copreneurial businesses located in the Greater Accra region of Ghana, who have employed effective strategies to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability longer than 10 years, participated in the study. The WFC model for business/marriage partners (copreneurs) and the reciprocal coping model served as the conceptual framework that grounded the study. Data were collected from semistructured interviews, company documents, and a reflective journal. The data were analyzed using the framework of compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpreting, and making conclusions. Emerging themes included strategy themes of personal coping, family-friendly organizational supports, and integrated coping. The implications for positive social change include the potential to help copreneurs use strategies identified to manage WFC to improve business sustainability, which may contribute to wealth creation and poverty reduction in the local economy.

Copreneurs' Coping Strategies for Work-Family Conflict

by

Eunice Peregrino-Dartey

MBA, Ghana Institute of Management and Public Administration, 2006

BA, University of Ghana, 1997

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2018

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to Almighty God who made this feat possible. To my dear parents whose dream it was for me to obtain a doctorate, I made it, even though you are not here to experience this awesome accomplishment with me. I also dedicate this study to Jesse my husband, whose support and unconditional love, and encouragement helped me to make this achievement possible, I say, God bless you. To my sons Inshira and Adom, your sacrifices have borne fruits. I thank you all for the love and inspiration.

Acknowledgments

I thank my Chairs, Dr. James Glenn for chaperoning me through the final phase of my doctoral study and Dr. Lynn M. Szostek for her inspiration, support, guidance, and encouragement throughout my journey. I also thank Dr. Kim A. Critchlow and Dr. Denise L. Land who helped to steer the direction of my study. I am also thankful to Dr. Freda Turner and Dr. Susan Davis for making the DBA program a great one to undertake.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	2
Problem Statement	3
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	4
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	6
Operational Definitions	7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	8
Delimitations	8
Significance of the Study	8
Contribution to Business Practice	8
Implications for Social Change	9
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	9
Search Strategy	10
Overview	11
Conceptual Model for the Study	12

Family Business	18
Copreneurship	21
Work-Family Conflict	29
Coping Strategies for Work-Family Conflict	36
Concluding Summary	46
Transition	47
Section 2: The Project	50
Purpose Statement	50
Role of the Researcher	51
Participants	53
Research Method and Design	54
Research Method	54
Research Design	56
Population and Sampling	57
Ethical Research	60
Data Collection Instruments	61
Data Collection Technique	63
Data Organization Technique	66
Data Analysis	67
Reliability and Validity	70
Reliability	70
Validity	72

Transition and Summary	75
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for C	Change77
Introduction	77
Presentation of the Findings	78
Emergent Theme 1: Personal Coping	79
Emergent Theme 2: Family-friendly Organizational Support	92
Emergent Theme 3: Integrated Coping	98
Relating Findings to the Conceptual Framework	99
Relating Findings to Effective Business Practice	101
Applications to Professional Practice	105
Implications for Social Change	107
Recommendations for Action	108
Recommendations for Further Research	110
Reflections	111
Conclusion	112
References	113
Appendix A: Interview Protocol and Questions	150

List of Tables

Table 1. Frequencies of Sources by Publication Date	11
Table 2. Emerging Themes and Subthemes	79
Table 3. Number of Times Participants Mentioned Planning	82
Table 4. Number of Times Participants Mentioned Effective Communication	84
Table 5. Number of Times Participants Mentioned Delegating	85
Table 6. Number of Times Participants Mentioned Negotiating	88
Table 7. Number of Times Participants Mentioned Asking for Help	89
Table 8. Number of Times Participants Mentioned Spending Time with Family	90
Table 9. Number of Times Participants Mentioned Taking Care of Marriage	91
Table 10. Number of Times Participants Mentioned Flexible Work Arrangements	94
Table 11. Number of Times Participants Mentioned Maternal/Paternal	
Leave/Leave of Absence	96
Table 12. Number of Times Participants Mentioned Childcare	97

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Scholars recognize the importance of work-family conflict (WFC) resolution to the success of family-owned businesses. WFC has become an important topic in business research due to societal changes and contemporary demographic trends such as dualincome earning families, and the recognition of conflicts between workers' work and family responsibilities (Li, Bagger, & Cropanzano, 2016). WFC is an interrole conflict whereby the domains of work and family interact and are incompatible in some respect (Greenhaus & Beutell, 1985; Ratnaprabha, Sindhu, Kumar, & Kengnal, 2017). WFC is prevalent in copreneurial businesses and tends to affect business success (Helmle, Botero, & Seibold, 2014). Copreneurships are a subset of family firms in which couples own and manage the business together (Machek, Kolouchová, & Hnilica, 2016). Copreneurs' ability to manage WFC effectively may result in business sustainability (Kurniawan & Sanjaya, 2016; Werbel & Danes, 2010). Family businesses (including copreneurships) are important drivers of gross domestic product (GDP) and contribute to nations' socioeconomic development (Al-Dajani, Bika, Collins, & Swail, 2014; Vieira, 2018) and sustainability (Oudah, Jabeen, & Dixon, 2018). As such, the creation of family businesses, their growth, and sustainability are critical to the success of the global economy (Sarbah & Xiao, 2015). The survival rate of family firms is, however, low (Hiebl, 2015; Oudah et al., 2018). The purpose of this study was to explore how copreneurs in Ghana cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years.

Background of the Problem

Copreneurs mix their work and family lives. This interrelation of the dual roles of work and family in copreneurships tends to create WFC that can affect the business and family success more than in other organizations (White, 2013). WFC can result in negative individual and organizational outcomes (Putnik, Houkes, Jansen, Nijhuis, & Kant, 2018). Such adverse outcomes include poor performance, burnout, absenteeism, lack of organizational commitment, and turnover (Clark, Michel, Early, & Baltes, 2014; Schooreel & Verbruggen, 2016). Health risks resulting from WFC such as stress may affect indirect business costs through absenteeism and poor work performance (Akinbode, Folusho, & Israel, 2018; Barton, Futris, & Nielsen, 2015). Williams, Berdahl, and Vandello (2016) further noted that the cost of WFC to the organization include low employee job satisfaction and commitment, absenteeism, turnover intentions, and poor performance. Werbel and Danes (2010) surmised that WFC might hurt new business ventures due to increased stress, which can hamper business sustainability. Kurniawan and Sanjaya (2016) further concluded that copreneurs inability to manage WFC might have an adverse effect on business sustainability. Most WFC researchers focused on white middle-class employees in Europe and America (Sav, Harris, & Sebar, 2014) while ignoring countries in Sub-Saharan Africa (Annor, 2016). By studying how copreneurs in Ghana cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability, I sought to address this scholarly oversight by identifying strategies that other copreneurs can learn from to improve business outcomes.

Problem Statement

Family businesses have a high failure rate (Oudah et al., 2018). Eighty percent of businesses worldwide are family businesses, with one-third of these being copreneurships (Amubode, Rauf-Lawal, & Owodiong-Idemeko, 2016); however, only 10-15% transition to the third generation (Oudah et al., 2018). Copreneurs' ability to manage WFC may enhance business sustainability (Kurniawan & Sanjaya, 2016). The general business problem is that WFC can have a negative effect on copreneurial sustainability. The specific business problem is that some copreneurs lack strategies to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that copreneurs use to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. The target population for the study comprised copreneurs from three copreneurial businesses located in the Greater Accra region of Ghana who employed effective strategies to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. The findings from this study may contribute to social change by presenting copreneurs with usable strategies to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability. The findings may also provide knowledge to policymakers and business consultants working to develop and implement policies and interventions respectively to support copreneurs to improve business outcomes. Improved business outcomes may contribute to wealth creation for copreneurs and thus reduced poverty and improved standards of living for Ghanaians.

Nature of the Study

In this study, I employed the qualitative research method and a multiple case study design. Qualitative research is a human-centered inquiry that researchers use to understand the unique experiences of individuals by exploring the meaning of a given phenomenon (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Petty, Thomson, & Stew, 2012). A quantitative method of statistics and hypothesis testing is not appropriate for assessing human experience (Rissman & Gillon, 2017). With the mixed method, the researcher uses the qualitative and quantitative methods to collect data (Green et al., 2014). Exploring the strategies that copreneurs use to cope with WFC for business sustainability requires a deeper understanding of the phenomenon that is typical of the qualitative method.

I employed a qualitative multiple case study design to elicit rich data for a deeper understanding of the phenomenon. Research designs for the qualitative method include case study, phenomenology, ethnography, and narrative (Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018). A case study is appropriate for investigating real-life situations and contemporary phenomena (Cronin, 2014), and when the difference between the phenomenon and context lacks clarity (Yin, 2014). Researchers employ phenomenology to comprehensively explore the lived experiences of participants (Schwarz & Lindqvist, 2018). Ethnography is appropriate when studying ethnic groups over time (Hammersley, 2018). The narrative design is applicable when narrating the story of an individual or individuals chronologically (Yin, 2016). Yin (2016) recommended the descriptive case study for exploring experiences in a particular group or industry. According to Yin

(2014), using descriptive case studies enable researchers to describe events and their background. I employed the descriptive case study to understand how copreneurs cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years.

Research Question

The central research question guiding this study was: What strategies do copreneurs use to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to share responsibilities for the copreneurship to achieve business sustainability?
- 2. What strategies do you employ to cope when you and your partner disagree over the allocation of time that each of you gives to work and family?
- 3. What strategies do you employ individually to cope with work interfering with family?
- 4. What strategies do you employ as a couple to cope with work interfering with family?
- 5. What strategies do you employ individually to cope with family interfering with work?
- 6. What strategies do you employ as a couple to cope with family interfering with work?
- 7. What strategies do you use to support each other to cope with work-family conflict to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years?

- 8. What support is available in your organization to help you to cope with work-family conflict?
- 9. Would you like to share any other information to help copreneurs cope with work-family conflict to help them sustain their businesses?

Conceptual Framework

I employed the WFC model for business/marriage partners and the reciprocal coping model as the framework for this study. Foley and Powell (1997) developed the WFC model for business/marriage partners (copreneurs) to address how couples who live and work together experience WFC. Foley and Powell defined WFC for copreneurs as a conflict that results when the individuals of the copreneurship disagree over the allocation of time that each gives to work and family. The fundamental concept of this model is that WFC experienced by copreneurs results from the personal characteristics of each partner, as well as the couple as a unit (Foley & Powell, 1997). It further presupposes that WFC experienced by copreneurs affects the quality of their marriage relationship and their business success (Foley & Powell, 1997). This model was suitable for this study because it provided a basis for exploring the experiences of copreneurs, not only from their individual perspectives but also as a dyad. Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2012) developed the reciprocal coping model to indicate how individuals cope with WFC. The main concept of this model is that individuals cope with WFC by aligning their personal coping resources (internal resources) with those offered at the organizational level (external resources). Unlike other models that only focus on internal coping strategies, this model afforded me the opportunity to explore both internal and external coping

strategies that copreneurs employ in managing WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years.

Operational Definitions

The purpose of this section is to explain the terms used in this study to prevent misunderstanding by readers. The terms defined are from scholarly sources.

Copreneurial businesses: A copreneurial business is a form of family business in which couples own, manage, operate, and commit themselves to the business together (Othman, Mohammed, & Suradi, 2016).

Copreneurs: Copreneurs are couples who jointly own, are responsible for, and commit themselves to the business (Hirigoyen & Villeger, 2017; Machek et al., 2016).

Copreneurship: A copreneurship is business owned and managed by a couple (Othman et al., 2016).

Work-family conflict: Work-family conflict is the simultaneous stress from both work and family, which may not be compatible, such that participating in one domain becomes more difficult due to participation in the other domain (Akinbode et al., 2018; Haun & Dormann, 2016; Ratnaprabha et al., 2017).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are the unsubstantiated facts that a researcher assumes to be the truth (Foss & Hallberg, 2014). In this study, I assumed that participants would be truthful about their copreneurial experiences and provide coping strategies they used to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. Additionally, I assumed that

copreneurs would agree to participate in the study and respond quickly, providing detailed responses to the questions to prompt follow-up questions.

Limitations

Limitations are the elements of the study that researchers cannot control (Soilkki, Cassim, & Anis, 2014). The participants in the study experience the phenomenon and may have personal biases. The target population for the study was copreneurs in Accra, Ghana who may not provide a representative sample to reflect the phenomenon confronting copreneurs in the region. The sample size may have limited the diversity of the experiences and perceptions of copreneurs regarding the phenomenon. I also have personal biases because I experience the phenomenon under study.

Delimitations

Delimitations are the restrictions that a researcher imposes on a study (Sampson et al., 2014). In this study, I explored how copreneurs in Accra cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. The delimitations of the study included the geographical location and the number of years the copreneurship has been in existence.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

The findings from this study may be valuable to businesses in Ghana because they show how copreneurs cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. WFC can have adverse effects on copreneurial success (Helmle et al., 2014; White, 2013). Therefore, this study may contribute to effective business practice by showing how copreneurs cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years.

Consultants may also use the study to obtain knowledge on effective coping strategies for WFC to create a new stream of business by providing advisory and support services to copreneurs to improve business outcomes.

Implications for Social Change

Findings from this study have implications for social change. Family firms such as copreneurships contribute substantially to the economic growth and poverty reduction in many developing countries such as Ghana (Al-Dajani et al., 2014; Oudah et al., 2018). This trait makes business survival and sustainability key to national development. Family businesses and copreneurial firms constitute a sizeable proportion of small businesses. In Ghana, small businesses constitute approximately 92% of registered enterprises and contribute about 70% of the GDP (Acquah & Agyapong, 2015; Sarbah & Xiao, 2015). This addition to the rather limited literature and knowledge on how copreneurs manage WFC to attain business sustainability may help drive attention to copreneurial businesses. The findings may enable policymakers to provide business environments that support copreneurs in Ghana in dealing with WFC to achieve business sustainability. Copreneurs could use strategies identified in this study to address WFC to improve business sustainability, which may contribute to wealth creation and poverty reduction.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

In this study, I explored strategies that copreneurs use to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. The purpose of this literature review was to provide a critical analysis and synthesis of existing literature on the conceptual models for the study and emerging themes related to the study. I used the WFC model for

business/marriage partners (Foley & Powell, 1997) and the reciprocal coping model (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012) as the study's conceptual models. I organized the literature by topic and provided a comprehensive update on the topic under study.

Search Strategy

I obtained most of the literature via Walden University Library by searching through databases such as Emerald Management Journals, Science Direct, SAGE Premiere, ABI/INFORM Complete, Business Source Complete, and PsycARTICLES, with additional searches in ResearchGate and Google Scholar. To facilitate the retrieval of peer-reviewed articles and other relevant sources for the topic, I linked Google Scholar to the Walden Library and ResearchGate to make identified articles more accessible. Key terms used in searching for the literature included *coping strategies for work-family* conflict, copreneur, copreneurship, family business, family interfering with work, work interfering with family, marriage business partners, work-family conflict, and business sustainability. I applied the search strategy to identify literature pertinent to the research question, which was as follows: What strategies do copreneurs use to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years? I searched for literature published from 2014 to 2018. I used 244 sources comprising 230 peer-reviewed articles, 11 seminal books, a dissertation, a report, and one law. Of the 244 sources used, 217 (89%) of them were published within 5 years of the anticipated completion date of the study (see Table 1).

Table 1
Frequencies of Sources by Publication Date

Sources	Before 2014	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Total
Peer-reviewed articles	19	53	41	46	32	39	230
Seminal books	5	1	1	2	1	1	11
Dissertation	1	-	-	-	-	-	1
Others	2	-	-	-	-	-	2
Total	27	54	42	48	33	40	244

Overview

The intermingling of the romantic and business lives of copreneurs may result in business failure. According to Kurniawan and Sanjaya (2016), copreneurs' inability to cope with WFC could hamper the sustainability of their businesses. Scholars have focused most of the previous WFC studies on dual-career couples and the self-employed and employees with scant research on copreneurs (White, 2013; Wu, Chang, & Zhuang, 2010). Additionally, most WFC researchers have targeted white middle-class employees (Sav et al., 2014) with no studies targeting copreneurs from Africa (Annor, 2016; Annor & Amponsah-Tawiah, 2017). Researchers have targeted copreneurs only as individuals and not as a dyad. For example, copreneurial couples experienced WFC simultaneously as individuals and at as a couple, which might create stress both at home and at work (Foley & Powell, 1997; Helmle et al., 2014). White (2013) recommended the study of both work interfering with family (WIF) and family interfering with work (FIW) when

exploring WFC for copreneurial relationships for a deeper understanding of the phenomenon. It is important to distinguish and assess bidirectional WFC (WIF and FIW) separately because each one may have a distinct set of consequences (Aazami, Shamsuddin, & Akmal, 2015; Ahmed, Eatough, & Ford, 2018; Bodolica, Spraggon, & Zaidi, 2014). Thus, I conducted this study with a bidirectional lens.

I adopted the bidirectional concept by addressing both WIF and FIW and explored copreneurs' coping strategies for WFC both at the individual level and at that of the dyad using the qualitative research method. Considering that most of the existing research used samples from other national settings, conducting this current research in Accra, Ghana may add value to scholarship and business practice on the strategies that copreneurs use to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years.

Conceptual Model for the Study

WFC model for business/marriage partners. WFC is a common trait of family business and copreneurship. Foley and Powell (1997) developed the WFC model for business/marriage partners to explain how WFC affected the marital relationship of copreneurs and the business success. WFC is an interrole conflict in which the interaction of the domains of work and family become discordant due to the intermingling of roles in both domains (Greenhaus & Beutell, 1985; Haun & Dormann, 2016; Ratnaprabha et al., 2017). Foley and Powell sought to address the limited theories on copreneurs, which created a gap in the WFC literature. Copreneurs experience WFC and employ coping strategies to manage WFC as individuals and as a couple living and working together (Dai, 2016; Foley & Powell, 1997; Mathur & Swami, 2015). Foley and Powell identified

individual-level constructs and couple-level constructs that contributed to WFC. The individual level constructs relate to the individual partner input and a corresponding output. Foley and Powell used the individual-level constructs to explore (a) relationships among and between the individual's inputs, (b) his or her perception of existing WFC, (c) the individual's outcome variables, and (d) the outcome variables of the couples. They found that WFC resulted in individual-level and couple-level outputs. These types of conflicts are bidirectional because they affect both work and family domains (Aazami et al., 2015; Allen, Cho, & Meier, 2014a; Bodolica et al., 2014). Thus, I conducted the study with a bidirectional focus.

WFC experienced by copreneurs involves the interaction of the professional and emotional lives of each partner, and also those of the couple. Researchers have found that WFC has a negative effect on the success and the sustainability of the copreneurial business (Foley & Powell, 1997; Helmle et al., 2014; Kurniawan & Sanjaya, 2016). The dynamics of the copreneurial business (mixing work with family) could have dire consequences on the success of the business (Foley & Powell, 1997). Dual-career couples who do not work together experience a different kind of WFC, which may pertain to their individual roles at work or home (family) because the domains of work and home are physically separate. With copreneurs, however, the domains are not separate. The domains of work and family interact. The individual at the center of the conflict in both domains is the same (Foley & Powell, 1997). The underlying principle is that the individuals within the copreneurship experience WFC due to the disagreement over the

allocation of the time that each partner assigns to his or her roles at work and the family (home).

Individual partner inputs are the personal attributes that each person brings to the partnership. These include attitudes on traditional sex roles, skills, role in starting the business, and preference for the allocation of work-family roles (Foley & Powell, 1997). According to Foley and Powell (1997), the compatibility or otherwise of this input influenced how copreneurs allocated time to work and family roles. Additionally, Foley and Powell noted that high WFC occurred when there was disagreement over the allocation of time to each of the domains. Low WFC resulted if the individual perceived that his or her role aligned with that of the other partner. Thus, couple inputs were the difference in perception between the individual inputs (Foley & Powell, 1997), as in when the couple disagreed on the competencies that one partner brought to the business. If a partner feels capable of performing a particular role at work, but the other perceives otherwise, then the differences in perception may lead to WFC. Each partner entered the copreneurship with their particular characteristics such as their attitudes to traditional sex roles, competencies, role in starting the business, and their preferences for work and family roles (Foley & Powell, 1997). Therefore, disagreements relating to their allocation of time to each of the roles/domains might lead to disagreement, which results in WFC (Foley & Powell, 1997). Helmle et al. (2014) explored the elements that influenced perceptions of work-life balance among owners of copreneurial firms and found that the flexibility of the copreneurial business influenced WIF. As such, Helmle et al. argued that understanding how the couple manages the interface between work and family was essential to enhance WFC scholarship and business practice.

At the level of the dyad, couple inputs and outputs affect the copreneurship.

Couple inputs include a gap in perceptions of the equity in the decision-making process, parental responsibilities, mutuality of support, and role overload (Foley & Powell, 1997), with separate outputs over outcomes for each copreneur. Partner outputs include the satisfaction that each copreneur obtains from the relationship, the support offered by the partner, and life satisfaction in general (Foley & Powell, 1997). Helmle et al. (2014) established that couple support does not affect perceptions of FIW. According to Foley and Powell (1997), the quality of the marriage relationship was the couple's output resulting from the satisfaction that each partner experienced, which might have a positive effect on the business.

Partner input affects the process that takes place when partners jointly allocate the time that each gives to work and family roles. According to Barton et al. (2015), stress resulting from WFC might affect indirect business costs through absenteeism and poor work performance. Kurniawan and Sanjaya (2016) studied how marital relations strategies affected business efficacy through the involvement of the spouse and emotional, social support. They noted that being able to cope with WFC might enable married couples to sustain their businesses. Wu et al. (2010) investigated the relationships of WFC with business and marriage outcomes in copreneurial women and established that WFC negatively affected business success and marriage satisfaction. According to Wu et al., WIF predicted marriage satisfaction, while FIW predicted perceived business

success. White (2013) examined how copreneurs' WFC affected perceptions of family and business success and found a relationship between bidirectional WFC and business and family success. By underpinning this study with the WFC model for business/marriage partners, I was able to ascertain how copreneurs manage WFC as individuals and as a couple.

The reciprocal coping model. I also employed the reciprocal coping model to underpin this study. Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2012) developed the reciprocal coping model from equity theory. According to Somech and Drach-Zahavy, individuals required the same proportions of personal coping resources and organizational supports to reduce WIF and FIW. The assumption is that individuals covertly or overtly gauge the investments they make against the benefits they receive in their interpersonal relationships through three exchange models: reciprocal, over-reciprocal, and underreciprocal (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). With the reciprocal model, individuals invest and gain equal resources, thereby evoking fairness and equality. As such, personal coping resources invested or gained equate to those provided at the organizational level, which might reduce WIF and FIW (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). Mauno and Rantanen (2013) examined support/control at work/home, personal coping strategies, and their effect on WFC. They found that high personal coping and high organizational coping support resulted in low WFC. As such, a combination of personal coping strategies and those provided at the organizational level may lead to low WFC, which can help copreneurs achieve business sustainability.

With the over-reciprocal model, individuals gain more resources than the amount they invest, which makes them feel guilty and engage in self-blame (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). Such individuals employ organizational supports more than they invest in personal coping, resulting in high WFC (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). Under-reciprocation occurs when individuals invest more resources than what they gain, causing feelings of injustice and high levels of WIF (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2012) concluded from their findings that the reciprocal model appeared to be the ideal model for coping with WFC, as both WIF and FIW decreased with the alignment of personal coping and organizational supports. Based on this evidence, I employed the reciprocal coping model to ascertain how copreneurs use personal and organizational coping strategies to achieve business sustainability.

There is evidence that the provision of organizational supports results in low WFC and positive business outcomes. In their study of the effect of perceived organizational support on work to family conflict, Kahya and Kesen (2014) observed that employees with high-perceived organizational supports increased their commitment to the organization, which resulted in high performance and low turnover. The employees felt indebted to the organization as the organization provided support in their interest.

According to Kahya and Kesen, perceived organizational support resulted in lower WFC. Hao, Wang, Liu, Wu, and Wu (2016) examined the relationships between WIF and FIW and organizational support, with depressive symptoms among Chinese doctors. Hao et al. observed that the provision of organizational supports had an adverse effect on WIF and FIW. Matias et al. (2017) observed that employers used family-friendly organizational

support to reduce WFC and alleviate the negative effects of WFC on employee productivity. Similarly, Zheng and Wu (2018) examined the effects of WFC on the professional commitment of Chinese project experts and concluded that perceived organizational support resulted in low WFC and improved professional commitment. Thus, when employers provide employees with organizational support, their WFC level reduces, resulting in positive business outcomes.

Both personal and organizational factors influence WFC. Kaur (2012) found that dual-career couples who employed integrated coping strategies (a combination of personal coping and organizational supports) had lower levels of WFC. Similarly, Mache et al. (2015) found that employing both personal resources and organizational supports reduced WFC. After examining the challenges of work and coping strategies of professional dual-career couples, Rahman, Mustaffa, Rhouse, and Ab Wahid (2016) established that their study participants used integrated coping strategies to reduce WFC, especially FIW. Thus, adopting both personal and organizational supports may reduce the WFC of copreneurs and influence the attainment of business sustainability. By underpinning the study with the two models, I elicited information from participants as individuals and as a dyad to determine individual and organizational efforts employed in coping with WFC to achieve business sustainability.

Family Business

Family businesses constitute a vital business structure globally. Family businesses are the most prevalent forms of businesses in the world (Lien, Teng, & Li, 2016; Oudah et al., 2018) with significant contributions to the entrepreneurship and socioeconomic

development of many countries (Pérez-López, Gómez-Mirandaa, Argente-Linares, & López-Sánchez, 2018; Vieira, 2018). Eighty percent of businesses worldwide are family-owned with one-third of these being copreneurships (Amubode et al., 2016). According to Pieper, Astrachan, and Manners (2013), family firms accounted for more than half of GDP, 60% of new employment, and 65% of wages paid. Meroño-Cerdán, López-Nicolás, and MolinaCastillo (2018) further observed that family businesses contributed significantly to the U.S. economy, generating 89% of total tax returns, 64% to GDP, and 62% to employment. Thus, family firms including copreneurships are important in developing local economies.

There are various definitions for family businesses. A family business is a firm or organization in which one or more families control the strategic direction of the business (Miralles-Marcelo, Miralles-Quiros, & Lisboa, 2014). It is a firm in which a family or several families has/have effective control, contributing to family well-being and identity (Pieper et al., 2013; Woodfield & Husted, 2017). There is family involvement in the management and ownership of the firm (Dawson & Mussolino, 2014). In their study of family businesses and community development, Fitzgerald and Muske (2016) established that family firms contributed to the sustainability of the economy and the social environment of their communities. Thus, the importance of family business at the global, national, and individual levels makes it a worthy construct to understudy.

Family businesses differ from nonfamily businesses in significant ways. In a family business (such as copreneurship), there is the interaction of work (business) and family domains (Ruizalba, Soares, Arán, & Porras, 2016). Family businesses are the most

common, dominant, and oldest type of businesses worldwide (Roberts & Gnan, 2017). The unique nature of family business is that they have distinct and partially overlapping family and business systems, which distinguishes them from other types of businesses. Positive outcomes for family businesses included family health and prosperity, good firm performance, greater employee retention, corporate social responsibility, and environmental responsiveness (Pieper et al., 2013). The positive outcomes notwithstanding, the intermingling of family and business can also result in negative outcomes.

Combining business with family may lead to conflicts and poor firm performance. Nepotism and conflicts within the family might result in low performance even though family members might provide skilled and loyal labor to the business (Pieper et al., 2013). The firm's requirement for human and financial resources, as well as time, might cause conflicts with the family's needs for personal accomplishment, work, and income (Pieper et al., 2013). Pounder (2015) established that the major challenge involved in managing a family business was the ability to manage the interrelationship between work and family domains. The interaction between the domains of family and work may result in WFC.

The primary distinction between family businesses and nonfamily businesses is socioemotional wealth. Socioemotional wealth is one of the key elements that differentiated family businesses from nonfamily businesses (Dawson & Mussolino, 2014; Hasenzagl, Hatak, & Frank, 2018; Ismael Barros, Hernangómez, & Martin-Cruz, 2017; Memilia, Fang, Koc, Yildirim-Oktem, & Sonmeze, 2018). In making decisions, family

business owners prioritized socioemotional wealth to determine profit and loss (Gomez-Mejia, Cruz, & Imperatore, 2014; Morgan & Gomez-Mejia, 2014). Additionally, family firm owners underpinned management decisions on socioemotional wealth (Morgan & Gomez-Mejia, 2014). Family business owners might minimize negative emotions and maximize positive emotions to preserve socioemotional wealth (Gomez-Mejia et al., 2014; Morgan & Gomez-Mejia, 2014). Family business owners preferred to experience negative emotions in the short-term for the advancement of the family in the long-run (Morgan & Gomez-Mejia, 2014). Family business owners place value on socioemotional wealth, which differentiates them from their nonfamily counterparts.

A functional governance system and organizational structure can contribute to the effective management of the family firm. Forkuoh, Appienti, and Osei (2012) studied the relationship between family business structure, lines of authority, and chain of command in a traditional family structure in Ghana. They recommended effective planning, clearly stated roles, delegation of responsibility and authority, and a well-constituted board in the family business to facilitate the attainment of business goals. Thus, having an efficient governance system in a family business may contribute to business sustainability.

Copreneurship

Copreneurship is a unique form of family business. Approximately one-third of family businesses are copreneurships (Amubode et al., 2016; Minarcine & Shaw, 2016). Copreneurs are couples who jointly own, share responsibility for, and are loyal to the business (Hirigoyen & Villeger, 2017; Machek et al., 2016). Helmle et al. (2014) indicated that a copreneurial firm was a type of family business in which a couple shared

both a personal and professional relationship in a jointly owned business, which they also managed together. Inherent in these definitions is the notion of equality or equity between the couple that shares responsibility for the business. Although copreneurship implies equality of roles, effort, and rewards that cut across work and home domains, role conflicts emanated from unequal sharing of work and rewards as the traditional husband and wife roles dominated (Deacon, Harris, & Worth, 2014). For this study, I defined copreneurship as a form of business in which married couples or couples living together jointly share the ownership and management of the firm.

Scholars found a positive relationship between copreneurship and a variety of indicators. McDonald, Marshall, and Delgado (2017) noted that in copreneurships where the copreneurial couple had a good relationship, they were more likely to be profitable than noncopreneurial businesses. Hnilica and Machek (2015) explored the differences between copreneurships and noncopreneurial businesses regarding their productivity, debt level, liquidity, and asset management and found that copreneurial firms were more operationally efficient than noncopreneurs. Machek et al. (2016) examined the performance gaps between copreneurial firms and professionally managed companies in the Czech Republic and found a positive outcome on return on equity and copreneurial earnings. In copreneurial businesses, the domains of work and family intertwine as couples deal with pressures from work and home as individuals and also as a couple.

In copreneurial firms, the professional and personal lives of the couples interact.

There is greater integration between work and life domains of copreneurial businesses

than other forms of family businesses (Helmle et al., 2014). This integration is as a result of the couple sharing their work and love lives together. Smith (2000) found that copreneurship promoted a family-friendly environment for copreneurs and employees. Copreneurial firms, entrepreneurial identity, roles, and responsibilities depended on the unique capacities and capitals of the individual partners (Deacon et al., 2014). Statistics related to the number of copreneurial firms in an economy is difficult to ascertain due to lack of data disaggregation by types of family businesses (Deacon et al., 2014). In spite of the difficulty to find statistics that show the prevalence of copreneurial firms, it is evident from the extant literature that copreneurial businesses account for many new ventures globally. Helmle et al. (2014) surmised that copreneurial businesses constituted 3.7 million businesses in America, representing a critical source of economic development not just in the United States, but also globally. Amubode et al. (2016) noted that about 80 percent of businesses worldwide are family-owned with one-third of these being copreneurships. Despite their noted importance, scholarly research on copreneurship is scanty due in part to the difficulty in identifying copreneurs as study participants (Helmle et al., 2014). Couples who live and work together experience WFC (Dai, 2016). Working couples (such as copreneurs) used coping strategies to manage their individual WFC (Mathur & Swami, 2015). Studying copreneurship provides a clearer understanding of how couples interrelate at work and home, and how their relationship affects the business.

Copreneurs decide to start businesses together for various reasons. Smith (2000) cited redundancy, corporate downsizing, and the glass ceiling while Minarcine and Shaw

(2016) and Dahl, Van Praag, and Thompson (2015) indicated low employment opportunities. Other reasons involved the need to establish value for their business and emotional relationship, as well as transforming their relationship into a thriving lifestyle and business (Deacon et al., 2014). In this study, I explored how copreneurs cope with WFC to attain business sustainability beyond 10 years.

Drivers of copreneurial business sustainability. Businesses must succeed to survive. For a copreneurial business to be successful, there must be role clarity between the copreneurs (Campopiano, De Massis, Rinaldi, & Sciascia, 2017). Existing knowledge of the factors that contribute to business sustainability vary. Marriage could be a critical resource in sustaining a new business (Craft, Seal, Juyoung, & Danes, 2015). Entrepreneurial resourcefulness was one of the critical factors for business survival and sustainability (Ayala & Manzano, 2014). Succession planning might result in family business sustainability (Adedayo & Ojo, 2016; Adedayo, Olanipekun, & Ojo, 2016). Oudah et al. (2018) recommended that for family businesses to be sustainable, they must place importance on strategic planning, succession planning, and corporate governance. Financial management practices are important to the growth, sustainability, and successful succession of the family business (Dello Sbarba & Marelli, 2018). Despite the high rate of family businesses and their contribution towards economic development, their survival rate including that of copreneurship is low (Hiebl, 2015). Van der Merwe, Venter, and Farrington (2012) noted that the perception of fair treatment by family members resulted in harmonious family relationships and business sustainability. Ruizalba et al. (2016) noted that successful family businesses had a positive relationship

between the family and the business while Kurniawan and Sanjaya (2016) surmised that copreneurs' ability to cope with WFC could result in the sustainability of the copreneurial business. The linkage between harmonious work (business) and family relationship and business success and sustainability is evident.

Additionally, the perception of trust, commitment, and effective communication had a positive effect on family harmony and business sustainability. Family conflict affected family business sustainability (Adedayo & Ojo, 2016), while family harmony influenced the perceived future continuity of family businesses (Venter, van der Merwe, & Farrington, 2012). Machek et al. (2016) surmised that the lack of physical boundaries between work and family of copreneurs might affect business survival. Kengatharan (2015) observed a negative relationship between WFC and organizational sustainability. This negative relationship implies that when WFC is low, it enhances business sustainability. While the family can constitute a competitive advantage for the family firm, family business success depends on how the family organizes itself and its relationship with the business (Suess, 2014). Thus, skills, experience, networking capabilities, and harmony between family and business interests might have a positive effect on the family firm (Suess, 2014). As such, adopting effective coping strategies to manage WFC may result in business sustainability.

Critical to the sustainability of copreneurial firms is the challenge of balancing work and family domains. WFC emanated from the inability of copreneurs to balance the boundary between family and work (Venter et al., 2012). Owusu-Bempah, Djirackor, and Gadegbeku (2016) found in their study on the dual-earner couples and family spillovers

in Ghana that the family lives of couples had a positive effect on their work lives. In effect, low FIW may have a positive effect on the work (business) outcomes of the copreneurs. Stafford, Danes, and Haynes (2013) established that when family business owners experienced low FIW, they were more likely to sustain their businesses for 10 years. Using their model for managing WFC between copreneurs, Foley and Powell (1997) surmised that the quality of a marriage relationship might affect family business success. Likewise, Venter et al. (2012) suggested that a healthy and robust marriage could result in a successful copreneurship. According to Venter et al., the most significant threats to the growth, success, and survival of family businesses were issues involving family relationships. Thus, copreneurs must utilize effective coping strategies to manage WFC to avoid negative effects on business growth and sustainability. Copreneurial sustainability depended on the ability of copreneurs to maintain a right balance between their work and family domains (Venter et al., 2012). Therefore, a harmonious family relationship resulting in low FIW can lead to positive business outcomes for the copreneurship. It is evident from the extant literature that copreneurs' ability to effectively balance work and family demands by reducing WFC may contribute to business sustainability.

Advantages and disadvantages of copreneurship. There are advantages and disadvantages of working with one's spouse. There are advantages and disadvantages of copreneurship (Machek, Hnilica, Kolouchova, & Machek, 2015). On a positive note, a couple's closeness and access to each other might improve communication behaviors that facilitate the business relationship (Helmle et al., 2014). Sharing home and work

provided copreneurs the flexibility to have more control over decision-making, which resulted in satisfaction in both domains (Randerson, Bettinelli, Fayolle, & Anderson, 2015). The resultant effect was better understanding and greater commitment to the business (Helmle et al., 2014). Copreneurs who committed to their business goals might achieve high business performance (Machek et al., 2015). While noncopreneurial businesses might be prone to agency costs, this challenge might not be the case in copreneurial businesses (Machek et al., 2016). Despite the advantages, working and living together can be disadvantageous to copreneurial couples.

The copreneurial life can be problematic. Copreneurs might experience problems from different work and management styles, disagreement over money and decision-making, inadequate couple/family time, or spending too much time together without listening to each other (Helmle et al., 2014). These adverse situations could cause tensions and conflicts that harm the copreneurial business (Helmle et al., 2014). Adverse effects of copreneurship might include low performance due to conflict between copreneurs, WFC which may affect business survival, possible competition between the couple, and lack of personal time. The opportunities associated with copreneurship outweigh the disadvantages (Smith, 2000). Copreneurship provided couples independence, personal control, and helped them to maximize their strengths and values (Smith, 2000). Despite the positive attributes of copreneurship, the peculiar nature of mixing business and family lives may cause WFC, necessitating the use of coping strategies to ensure harmony at work and home to improve business outcomes.

Conflict management in copreneurship. Conflict is a prominent feature of family firms, and it can be negative or positive. Negative conflicts are those negative emotions in relationship conflicts (Morgan & Gomez-Mejia, 2014) such as those experienced by copreneurs. Conflict was a major destructive factor affecting family harmony and the cause of failure in family businesses (van der Merwe et al., 2012). According to Adedayo and Ojo (2016), conflict was one of the critical issues that affected the sustainability of the family business. Conflicts were likely to result when the spheres of business interacted with family due to the egalitarian system of family against that of meritocracy in business (Pieper et al., 2013). Relationship conflicts resulting from internal conflicts of family members are negative emotions that can prevent productivity by redirecting work-related efforts to threats (Morgan & Gomez-Mejia, 2014). The interaction of work and family in copreneurship can cause conflicts, which may be negative or positive.

Conflicts in the family business are not entirely negative. They could be beneficial when it results in new ideas, alternatives, and involvement (Morgan & Gomez-Mejia, 2014). Conflicts might have a good effect on the performance of the family firm through pressure from external stakeholders (Morgan & Gomez-Mejia, 2014). Although it might be healthy for a family business, it is better to find solutions to conflict before it affects family harmony than to avoid them (van der Merwe et al., 2012). Conflict management is the ability to manage conflicts promptly to prevent its adverse effect on family harmony and the sustainability of the family business (van der Merwe et al., 2012). According to Pieper et al. (2013), the timely identification and resolution of family

business conflicts resulted in improved family and business sustainability. Family governance provided mechanisms to manage family business disputes, especially as the sustainability of the firm depends on its ability to manage family conflicts (Suess, 2014). Adopting effective conflict management strategies in copreneurial firms can resolve challenges that are inimical to the success and sustainability of the business.

Work-Family Conflict

WFC is an important concept. WFC resulting from the interface of work and family affected the individual, the family, the organization, and to a considerable extent, the society (Aazami et al., 2015). WFC refers to simultaneous stress from both work and family, which may be incompatible, such that participating in one domain becomes more difficult due to participation in the other domain (Akinbode et al., 2018; Haun & Dormann, 2016; Ratnaprabha et al., 2017; Teoh, Chong, Chong, & Ismail, 2016). WFC is a stress that can negatively affect the mental health status of employees (Aazami et al., 2015). Malik and Awan (2015) studied the relationship between WFC and organizational commitment and effectiveness and found that when WFC was low, organizational effectiveness increased and when WFC was high, organizational effectiveness decreased. The interface of work-family is a complicated issue, which might affect copreneurial business sustainability (Kurniawan & Sanjaya, 2016). WFC can result in negative individual and organizational outcomes (Putnik et al., 2018). Nimitha and Manoj (2017) noted that the upsurge of WFC in business resulted in negative consequences. Chief executive officers who experienced FIW were unable to make accurate decisions, which had negative consequences on business performance (Reina, Peterson, & Zhang, 2017).

Individuals' inability to balance work and family tended to increase WFC (Kumar & Arain, 2018; Teoh et al., 2016; Versey, 2015). The intermingling of the work and family domains of copreneurs may cause stress in either or both domains, which can affect the sustainability of the copreneurship.

Researchers distinguish between time-based WFC, strain-based WFC, and behavior-based WFC. Time-based WFC is a situation where there is less time available in one domain due to experiences in the other. With strain-based WFC, there is more strain in one domain because of experiences in the other. With behavior-based WFC one displays the behavior in one domain because of activities in the other (Akinbode et al., 2018; Clark et al., 2014; Greenhaus & Beutell, 1985; Ratnaprabha et al., 2017). WFC is bidirectional, causing work to interfere with family and family to interfere with work (Akinbode et al., 2018; Li et al., 2016). Fundamentally, WIF differed from FIW with each having distinctive antecedents and consequences (Allen & Finkelstein, 2014). This bidirectional relationship between work and family domains caused disagreement because work conflicted with the family environment, and family conflicted with the work environment (Aazami et al., 2015; Akinbode et al., 2018). WFC might affect the copreneurial business negatively (Helmle et al., 2014). As such, adopting effective coping strategies may result in positive business outcomes and sustainability. The effective management of WFC depends on the direction of the conflict. For this reason, I explored the strategies copreneurs use in addressing both WIF and FIW to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years.

Work-family conflict and copreneurship. WFC can affect copreneurship in different ways. Copreneurs must negotiate the borders between work and family domains to manage WFC effectively (Li, Miao, Zhao, & Lehto, 2013). Li et al. posited that borders are those psychological and physical lines that demarcate work and family domains. The characteristics of the border might affect how individuals managed work and family and its effect on work-life balance (Clark, 2000; Li et al., 2013; Saarenpää, 2018). Thus, the borders copreneurs employ are the coping strategies for mitigating WFC. There appeared to be an increase in the number of small business closures each year due to WFC (White, 2013). Extant literature on WFC and copreneurship is scant. Available empirical evidence of the few WFC studies targeting copreneurs focused on the consequences of WFC. For example, Werbel and Danes (2010) noted that copreneurs of new businesses experienced stress from WFC than individuals from other types of employment while White (2013) established that bidirectional WFC had a negative effect on copreneurial business success. Wu et al. (2010) investigated the relationships of WFC with business and marriage outcomes in copreneurial women. They found that family domains were more permeable than work domains and that WFC related negatively to perceived business success. According to Carr and Hmieleski (2015), family businesses experienced more stress from FIW than nonfamily businesses. There is also evidence of how individuals cope with WFC (Aazami et al., 2015; Carr & Hmieleski, 2015; Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). Literature on how couples cope with WFC both as individuals and as a dyad is lacking. Therefore, ascertaining how copreneurs cope with WFC may elicit insights on effective strategies to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability.

Causes of work-family conflict. The causes of WFC depends on its direction. Researchers categorized the causes of WFC as either work stressors or family stressors (Clark et al., 2014). One of the causes of WFC is the lack of adequate time for individuals to dedicate to work and family domains (Greenhaus & Beutell, 1985). As such, the more time an individual spent on one domain, the more likely it was for the person to experience WFC. Other causes of WFC included the extent of organizational supports provided, job stress, sex, and coping style (Gurbuz, Turunc, & Celik, 2013). Thus, with the provision of organizational supports, spending time on family activities reduces WIF.

WFC may result in stress that can affect business sustainability. Work stressors caused by WIF might include the duration and difficulty for an individual to commute to and from work, workload, working hours, poor self-reliance, difficulty in undertaking tasks, and lack of support from supervisor (Clark et al., 2014). Family stressors associated with FIW consisted of the work capacity of parents, number and age of children, the extent of spousal support, and tension in the marriage (Clark et al., 2014). Adisa, Osabutey, and Gbadamosi (2016) ascertained that the causes of WFC in Nigeria included stress from work, poor infrastructure, and lack of family-friendly organizational policies. Individuals used different coping mechanisms to manage work and family conflicts (Clark et al., 2014). Where work/family related activities interfere with the family/work activities, it brings strain to the copreneurship as a dyad and the copreneurs as individuals. Thus, employing coping strategies at the individual and organizational levels may lower WFC.

Impact of work-family conflict. There is evidence from extant literature on the impact of WFC. Experiencing WFC might have a negative effect on the individual, family, and the organization (Dartey-Baah, 2015). The context of negotiating roles, work, duties, and responsibilities, including managing home and personal lives might cause WFC (Helmle et al., 2014). As such, for copreneurs to minimize WFC, the couples must negotiate roles, duties, responsibilities, as well as manage their homes and family lives. Greenhaus and Beutell (1985) surmised that individuals might experience work and family stressors due to exhaustion, anxiety, and stress. The impact of WFC on both work and family included burnout, low work performance, absenteeism, low work and life satisfaction, as well as poor emotional well-being (Gurbuz et al., 2013; Schooreel & Verbruggen, 2016). According to Aboobaker, Edward, and Pramatha (2017), employee FIW was more likely to result in turnover intention than WIF. Other effects of WFC included depression, lack of life and marital satisfaction, lack of organizational commitment, and turnover (Fiksenbaum, 2014; Greenhaus & Beutell, 1985). Therefore, it is essential to ascertain how copreneurs as individuals, a couple, and a business unit cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability.

Scholars have noted the effects of WFC on copreneurship in different ways.

Werbel and Danes (2010) found family role pressures stressful for entrepreneurial firms, as family involvement with work intensified conflicts and strain. According to Werbel and Danes, copreneurs of new business ventures were likely to experience stress from WFC than individuals from other types of employment. White (2013) examined the dyadic construct of couple-level WFC effects on couple-level perceptions of family and

business success. White found a relationship between bidirectional WFC and business and family success of copreneurs. WIF and FIW affect the emotional health of family business owners, their satisfaction levels toward work, and family business performance (Helmle et al., 2014). Carr and Hmieleski (2015) examined the effects of WFC on work tension for founders of family versus nonfamily businesses and found that founders of family businesses experienced more stress from FIW than nonfamily business. Dartey-Baah (2015) found that WIF and FIW had an adverse effect on job satisfaction. As such, Ghanaian business leaders who experienced greater WFC (WIF and FIW) had less job satisfaction. Exploring how copreneurs in Ghana cope with WFC may provide valuable strategies to help them to achieve business sustainability.

Gender dimensions of work-family conflict. Gender is an important element in WFC. Research so far is inconclusive regarding gender differences in WFC (Fellows, Chiu, Hill, & Hawkins, 2016). Shockley, Shen, DeNunzio, Arvan, and Knudsen (2017) found that men and women had similar experiences with WFC and therefore did not find gender as a significant factor in determining WFC. However, some researchers reported that women experienced more WFC than men. Despite changing modern times, women still performed their traditional roles, juggling between home and work and experiencing high WFC (Helmle et al., 2014). Grönlund and Öun (2018) examined whether women in a dual-earner situation obtained family-friendly jobs as a strategy to reduce WFC and found that women had a higher level of WFC than men in the same occupation did.

Nkulenu (2015) examined the relationship between WFC and quality of work-life and sex differences in WFC in Ghana and observed that female employees experienced WFC

more than males. Women were disproportionately responsible for housework and childcare, thereby experiencing increased family demands than men, with women more likely to reduce working hours to care for family and therefore report more FIW compared to men (Ruppaner & Huffman, 2014). Similarly, Akoensi (2017) ascertained that female Police officers in Ghana had higher WFC than their male counterparts due to the additional burden of their traditional role in the household. As such, the peculiar role of the woman in the household predisposes her to WFC.

There is evidence that although women experience more WFC than men, the direction of WFC may vary according to gender. Allen and Finkelstein (2014) investigated the relationships between gender, age, and WFC and found that women experienced more FIW than men, while men experienced more WIF than women. Women with young children were more likely to reduce work demands because of WFC than males (Young & Schieman, 2018). According to Ruppaner and Huffman (2014), women's empowerment had significant effects on FIW while gender empowerment equally structured WIF for women. Zhao, Zhang, and Foley (2017) established a positive relationship between WFC and work success among male managers. Men experienced more WIF compared to women when a teenager was the youngest child at home (Ruppaner & Huffman, 2014). While some researchers found relationships between gender and WFC, others did not.

While individuals experience WFC, there may be no gender variations when it comes to the direction of the conflict. Nimitha and Manoj (2017) examined WIF and FIW among employees in India and observed no gender variations regarding WFC. Likewise,

Dartey-Baah (2015) did not find any significant difference between Ghanaian men and women corporate leaders with either WIF or FIW. WFC is a demand-interrelated concept, as additional resources are necessary (from each copreneur) to resolve WFC. Stress created in either work or family domain may affect the copreneurial business sustainability.

Coping Strategies for Work-Family Conflict

Coping involves actions that individuals take to manage the challenges they experience. Coping with WFC is the rational and behavioral efforts that individuals make to manage stressors resulting from the conflicting demands of work and family (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2017). According to Lazarus and Folkman (1984), coping is the persistent altering of mental and behavioral efforts to manage specific external and internal stresses deemed difficult or beyond the person's capacity. They further surmised that people employed cognitive appraisal to determine how to cope with life stresses. Consequently, individuals coped by first appraising a particular context as threatening, challenging, or irrelevant. Then, if they perceived the context as threatening or challenging, they reappraised the context and activated coping strategies to manage them. Individuals employed coping strategies to minimize the harm from life's stresses (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012, 2017). Coping is the cognitive and behavioral efforts individuals engage in to deal with stressful situations by reducing the disequilibrium they experience (Clark et al., 2014; Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2017). Therefore, individuals may use different coping strategies to manage WFC stressors depending on the domain where they experience the stressor.

Coping strategies linked to more positive work-family outcomes are available in the literature. Such positive outcomes include reorganizing the mind, separating work from family life, and having fun (Clark et al., 2014). Other coping strategies that resulted in positive work-family outcomes included requesting for support, altering attitudes and expressing oneself, and spending more time with family (Clark et al., 2014). According to Clark et al. (2014), constantly rearranging one's schedule might result in increased WFC in the short-run. Coping strategies for FIW other than WIF might result in positive work-family outcomes (Clark et al., 2014). Help-seeking behaviors, proper planning and communication, and skills enhancement resulted in lower WFC (Clark et al., 2014). Thus, employing effective coping strategies to address WFC may have a positive effect on the sustainability of the copreneurship.

There is evidence of cross-domain coping strategies. Clark et al. (2014) noted work planning and efficient management of the marriage as the cross-domain strategies that individuals used to lower both WIF and FIW. They found spending more time with family, being responsive to marital needs, and improving income as effective strategies for coping with family stressors. They also noted that spending more time with family resulted in lower WIF. The explanation for this finding could be that spending more quality time with the family reduces the effect of work demands on family needs.

Contrasting coping strategy models. I discussed other coping strategy models in this sub-section. Individuals might deploy personal coping strategies or organizational support, or both (integrated coping) to deal with WFC (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012).

The integrated coping model is a combination of personal coping and organizational supports which when used together and in the right proportions may result in lower WFC.

Personal coping strategy models. Some personal coping models identified in the literature that individuals use to manage WFC include role conflict coping behavior model, problem-focused coping (PFC), emotion-focused coping (EFC), avoidance-focused coping (AFC), and work-family border theory. I present evidence of the effectiveness or otherwise of each of these strategies in detail in the following subsections.

Role conflict coping behavior model. The role conflict coping behavior model is a WFC conceptual framework developed by Hall (1972). The model consisted of three levels in the role process with 16 coping strategies. Type I coping was structural role redefinition by changing external structurally imposed expectation about a person's position (Hall, 1972). Type II coping was personal role redefinition, which is the defensive manner in which individuals deal with their expectations and perceptions of their behaviors in a given context (Hall, 1972). Type III coping was reactive role behavior, which involved an attempt to resolve all role expectations with the assumption that it is impossible to address the conflicts, and therefore, the individual must try to satisfy all demands (Hall, 1972). The role conflict coping behavior model indicated how individuals control their life, resulting in low FIW (Hall, 1972). This model fails to address how individual coping differences may affect WFC. Thus, it is deficient in capturing options that individuals employ to cope with WFC.

Problem-focused and emotional-focused coping. Lazarus and Folkman (1984) developed the PFC and EFC models. PFC is an active means of coping and managing the stressor while EFC involves passively managing emotions to endure the stressor. PFC is behavioral coping that includes seeking help and taking direct action in a challenging situation (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). In activating PFC, individuals concentrated on ascertaining the problem, planning, creating alternative solutions, evaluating the advantages and disadvantages of the alternatives, choosing an alternative, and taking action (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). According to Clark et al. (2014), PFC refers to efforts employed to identify a stressor and measures taken to avoid or eliminate the source of the stress. Individuals used PFC in an attempt to control and solve problems (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Paulson and Leuty (2016) investigated the relationship between personality traits, affective style, and coping strategies and WIF and FIW of Amazon's Mechanical Turk and established that positive affect related positively to PFC. Thus, PFC appears to be a more realistic strategy to employ to cope with WFC.

Individuals may control stressors emotionally. According to Lazarus and Folkman (1984), EFC is the cognitive process whereby individuals employ positive thinking and express their emotions to tolerate the stressful situation. Individuals used EFC as a stress-reducing strategy when they could not change the prevailing situation. With EFC, individuals engaged in selective attention such as purposely focusing on specific related or unrelated aspects of the issue, positive comparison, and distancing, or by reducing emotional discomfort (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). EFC refers to efforts to minimize or eliminate the emotional discomfort related to a stressful situation (Clark et al., 2014).

EFC involves the passive management of emotions to manage the stressor. EFC is effective when it is not possible to change the stressor (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Using EFC involves distancing oneself from the stressor to reduce the discomfort.

Avoidance-focused coping. According to Endler and Parker (1990), individual coping is more complex than PFC and EFC, so they developed the AFC model. AFC is the situation in which people try to avoid the stressor or hope that the problem will resolve with time (Endler & Parker, 1990). AFC coping is a subtype of EFC, which might be relatively effective in less controllable situations (Endler & Parker, 1990). Engaging in subtle tasks (distraction, e.g., watching TV) or seeking out other people (social diversion, e.g., phoning a friend) are examples of AFC (Endler & Parker, 1990). Employing AFC means that individuals try to avoid the problem by distraction or social diversion. Other researchers found AFC unsuitable in reducing stress. Paulson and Leuty (2016) established that employing AFC resulted in FIW. As such, AFC is not a realistic coping strategy that individuals can use in addressing WFC.

Work-family border theory. Work-family border theory is another contrasting theory. Borders are the physical or psychological lines that differentiate work domains from life domains (Clark, 2000). How people managed these domains could affect work-life balance significantly (Clark, 2000; Li et al., 2013). Clark (2000) developed the work-family border theory and proposed the use of physical, temporal, and psychological borders to determine where the appropriate domain behavior starts and ends. A physical border between work and family indicated a workplace that is far from home (Clark, 2000; Li et al., 2013). A workplace with a 9 to 5 working schedule showed a temporal

border between work and home while a psychological border is a self-created rule employed to differentiate work and family domains (Clark, 2000; Li et al., 2013). Using the work-family border theory, Clark (2000) investigated how individuals create balance between work and home domains, by sharing work issues with family and sharing family issues with work colleagues. Spouses who influenced the extent to which individuals managed domains could protect work and home domains (Clark, 2000). Li et al. (2013) used the work-family border theory as a basis for developing a conceptual framework to understand the effect of work-life border characteristics and entrepreneurial motivation on the work-life balance of bed and breakfast innkeepers. Some copreneurial couples might have difficulty in detaching work from family while at home (Helmle et al., 2014; Li et al., 2013). Using work-family border theory helps to address how individuals manage work and family domains, and the borders between them.

The boundaries of work and family can vary. The boundaries of work and family can be permeable or flexible (Clark, 2000; Saarenpää, 2018). Permeability and flexibility are two major features that determine the strength of the border (Clark, 2000; Saarenpää, 2018). Permeability occurs when an individual situated in one domain may be psychologically present in another domain (Clark, 2000; Helmle et al., 2014; Saarenpää, 2018). For example, a person may discuss home issues with colleagues at work, and discuss work issues with family members. When individuals have higher permeability, they are less likely to experience conflicts between the two domains. Permeability determined how one domain affected the other while flexibility measured how much a border changed in addressing the needs of the domains (Helmle et al., 2014; Li et al.,

2013; Saarenpää, 2018). Flexibility is the extent to which the boundaries of a role are flexible and changeable so that it may manifest itself in different places or at different times (Helmle et al., 2014; Li et al., 2013; Saarenpää, 2018). Weak borders relate to high permeability while strong borders relate to low permeability and flexibility (Li et al., 2013). This theory does not present a holistic means of addressing WFC by copreneurs as their lives intermingle with their work both as individuals and as a corporate entity. Additionally, it does not take into account organizational supports that may mitigate WFC.

Family-friendly organizational support. Formal and informal family-friendly organizational support can help manage WFC. Formal means by which organizations support employees to ease WFC include family leave, provision of child-care assistance, and having flexible working hours (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). Informal support provided at the organization level refers to the values inherent in the organizational culture (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). According to Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2012), family-friendly organizational support could be in the form of benefits, services, and policies including part-time work, flexible work arrangements, and paternal/maternal leave. Benefits include medical and vacation expenses payment while services include childcare, therapy, and sick leave (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). These interventions constitute family-friendly supports at the organizational level.

Evidence of the positive effect of organizational support on the individual and the organization is available. Tang, Siu, and Cheung (2014) found that the provision of family-friendly organizational support resulted in work satisfaction, improved

performance, and efficiency (reduced WFC). Abadi (2018) examined the relationship between perceived organizational support and reward on job performance of vocational teacher shipping in Jakarta and established that perceived organizational support had a positive effect on job performance. Likewise, Ke and Deng (2018) investigated how family-friendly human resource practice and workplace spirituality affected organizational commitment and job performance. They observed that family-friendly organizational support had a positive effect on employee commitment and job performance. Additionally, French, Dumani, Allen, and Shockley (2018) concluded that organizational support was the most important source of support in reducing WFC. Wattoo, Zhao, and Xi (2018) established a negative relationship between family-friendly organizational support and WFC. This relationship implies that when employees use organizational support, they are likely to reduce WFC.

WFC is a reflection of an individual's ability to balance work and life domains. Employees who benefitted from organizational supports were more likely to experience low WFC (Mihelic & Tekavcic, 2014). Madden, Mathias, and Madden (2015) found that employees' intent to turnover lowered when organizational supports were available. According to Fiksenbaum (2014), organizational supports such as on-site childcare, telecommuting, and flexitime promoted a supportive work environment and contributed to lower WFC. Therefore, employees who utilized organizational supports reported less conflict at work and home domains. Fiksenbaum (2014) further noted that employees who experienced WFC were less content with their work and life. Gurbuz et al. (2013) established that utilizing organizational supports resulted in low WIF and FIW of

employees. Thus, business owners including copreneurs can use organizational supports to help reduce WFC.

It is evident that individuals use both personal coping strategies and family-friendly organizational support to manage WFC. Accordingly, when employees have flexible working hours they may experience lower WFC while providing family-friendly supervisor supports may enable employees to manage the domains of work and family more effectively. Thus, it is important to explore copreneurs' WFC coping strategies more holistically at the personal and organizational level for a comprehensive understanding of how copreneurs cope with WFC to attain business sustainability beyond 10 years.

Integrated coping models. Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2012) developed the integrated coping models and examined how the use of additive, interactive, and reciprocal coping models mitigated WFC. They noted that using the additive model results in lower levels of WFC when employees use maximal levels of resources from personal investments (personal coping) and organizational supports. With the interactive model, Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2012) also found that using personal coping strategies alone reduce WFC better than using only organizational supports. Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2012) concluded from their findings that the reciprocal model appeared to be the ideal model because WFC reduces with the alignment of personal and organizational coping strategies. Therefore, I used the reciprocal model as one of the conceptual framework for this study.

The additive coping model. The additive model is about proactive coping, the process whereby an individual prepares him or herself to deal with potential future stressors (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). Being able to deploy proactive coping effectively implied having the capacity to manage a persistent stressor (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). Thus, accumulating resources through personal and organizational coping strategies might enable an individual to reduce WFC. Having more resources (personal coping strategies and organizational supports) meant lower WIF and FIW (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). Therefore, the responsibility for reducing WFC rests with both the employee (investing personal coping strategies) and the organization (providing policies, services, and benefits) to balance work and family demands. The additive model assumes the use of maximal level of coping resources. The setback for using the additive model is

The interactive coping model. The interactive model is the use of either personal or organizational coping strategies. With the interactive model, organizational supports compensated for the absence of personal coping strategies while personal coping compensated for organizational supports to reduce WIF and FIW (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). With the interactive coping model, the reciprocal relationship that is typical of organizations and their employees is absent. With increased stress, individuals increased their resources to cope with rising stress level through personal coping, organizational support, or both (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). People expended resources by way of time and energy to cope with work and family challenges to meet their obligations in each domain (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). By so doing, they did

not only spend resources but also gained resources by building their problem-solving skills through the improvement of self-efficacy, self-esteem, and competence (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). Likewise, utilizing organizational supports decreased the need for the employee to expend resources on unnecessary personal coping (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). However, the employee might deem organizational supports as burdensome, making them feel helpless or incompetent and may, therefore, feel obliged to work harder (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). The models as discussed are inadequate to support the exploration of strategies that copreneurs use (personal and organizational supports) in managing WFC. As such, I employed the WFC model for business/marriage partners and the reciprocal coping model to underpin this study.

Concluding Summary

As discussed, the professional (work) and personal (family) lives of copreneurs intertwine. The integration of their work and family lives tends to cause WFC. Juggling the incompatible pressures from work and family domains cause conflicts that may adversely affect the survival and sustainability of the copreneurship. Thus, it is important to ascertain how copreneurs manage WFC to attain business sustainability. I employed the WFC model for business/marriage partners to ascertain how copreneurs as individuals and as a business unit cope with WFC. Additionally, I used the reciprocal coping model to explore how copreneurs cope with bidirectional WFC (WIF and FIW) at the personal and organizational levels to achieve business sustainability.

Transition

The purpose of this section was to summarize the key points discussed in Section 1. The intermingling of work and family among copreneurs tends to create WFC that can affect the sustainability of the copreneurial business (Clark, 2000). WFC can result in negative individual and organizational outcomes including poor performance, burnout, and absenteeism (Putnik et al., 2018; Schooreel & Verbruggen, 2016), poor job satisfaction (Dartey-Baah, 2015), and lack of organizational commitment and turnover (Fiksenbaum, 2014). WFC can result in increased stress and hamper the sustainability of a new business venture (Werbel & Danes, 2010). Copreneurs inability to cope with WFC may result in poor business efficacy and hinder the sustainability of the copreneurial business (Kurniawan & Sanjaya, 2016). The general business problem is that copreneurs experience WFC, which can have a negative effect on business sustainability. The specific business problem is that some copreneurs lack strategies to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. I employed the qualitative multiple case study to understand how copreneurs cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years.

I employed the WFC for business/marriage couples and the reciprocal coping model as the conceptual framework to underpin the study. Foley and Powell (1997) advanced the WFC model for copreneurs to address how copreneurs experience WFC. This conceptual framework is appropriate for this study because it provided the basis for exploring how copreneurs manage WFC both as individuals and as a couple. Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2012) developed the reciprocal coping model to show how individuals

effectively cope with WFC by aligning their personal coping resources with those of the organization. I adopted the reciprocal coping model to explore both internal and external coping strategies that copreneurs might be using to manage WFC.

The findings from this study may be valuable to copreneurships in Ghana by providing insight into how copreneurs cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. Consultants may also obtain knowledge on effective coping strategies for WFC to provide advisory and support services to copreneurs to improve business outcomes. Policy makers may also use the findings to provide the appropriate interventions and an enabling business environment for copreneurial businesses to thrive. Copreneurs could use strategies identified to address WFC to improve business sustainability, which may contribute to wealth creation and poverty reduction.

Copreneurship is a subset of family business. Copreneurship constitutes approximately one-third of family businesses (Amubode et al., 2016). Effective management of WFC might result in copreneurial business success (Helmle et al., 2014) and sustainability (Kurniawan & Sanjaya, 2016). The sustainability of copreneurial firms might further depend on the perception of trust, commitment, and effective communication (van der Merwe et al., 2012). WFC could be harmful to the survival of organizations while skills, experience, networking capabilities, and harmony between family and business interests might have a positive effect on the family firm (Kengatharan, 2015). A healthy marriage might result in a successful copreneurship (Venter et al., 2012). The most significant threats to the growth, success, and survival of family businesses are issues involving family relationships (Venter et al., 2012). Thus,

adopting effective coping strategies to address WFC among copreneurs may result in business sustainability.

The causes of WFC include inadequate time for individuals to dedicate to work and family domains (Greenhaus & Beutell, 1985), the extent of organizational supports provided, job stress, sex, and coping style (Gurbuz et al., 2013). The impact of WFC on work include burnout, low work performance, absenteeism (Putnik et al., 2018; Schooreel & Verbruggen, 2016), lack of organizational commitment and turnover (Fiksenbaum, 2014), poor business efficacy, and lack of business sustainability (Kurniawan & Sanjaya, 2016). Thus, employing effective coping strategies to address WFC may have a positive effect on the copreneurship and business outcomes. Coping strategies with positive work-family outcomes include cognitive restructuring, taking time off marriage, family-work segmentation, recreation and relaxation, chatting with people, seeking support, changing behaviors, spending more time with family, and emotional disclosure (Clark et al., 2014). The contrasting coping strategy models I discussed are personal coping, family-friendly organizational support, and interactive coping models.

In Section 2, I discuss the role of the researcher, participants, the research method and design, population and sampling, ethical considerations, and the techniques for data collection, organization, and analysis. I also provide details regarding the reliability and validity of the study. I present the findings of the study in Section 3, including its application to professional practice and implications for social change. I recommend actions based on the findings and provide suggestions for future research.

Section 2: The Project

Copreneurship is an important phenomenon. Copreneurs experience WFC, which makes their businesses prone to failure (Helmle et al., 2014). When family demands drain the resources required to meet work demands, it results in WFC (White, 2013).

Copreneurs' inability to manage WFC might hurt the sustainability of their businesses (Kurniawan & Sanjaya, 2016). WFC can result in negative business outcomes such as poor performance, absenteeism, lack of organizational commitment, turnover, and poor business efficacy (Barton et al., 2015; Clark et al., 2014; Kurniawan & Sanjaya, 2016; Schooreel & Verbruggen, 2016). Copreneurs may not be able to sustain their businesses if they fail to deploy effective coping strategies to manage WFC (Kurniawan & Sanjaya, 2016; Werbel & Danes, 2010). In this section, I present the purpose of this study, my role as the researcher, the participants of the study, the research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection, and the validity of this study.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that copreneurs use to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. The target population for the study comprised copreneurs from three copreneurial businesses located in the Greater Accra region of Ghana who employed effective strategies to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. The findings from this study may contribute to social change by presenting copreneurs with usable strategies to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability. The study may also provide knowledge to policymakers and business consultants to develop and implement policies and

interventions respectively to support copreneurs to improve business outcomes.

Improved business outcomes may contribute to wealth creation for copreneurs and thus reduced poverty and improved standards of living for Ghanaians.

Role of the Researcher

The researcher's role is to collect, analyze, and interpret the data and results in an unbiased manner. In qualitative studies, the researcher is the data collection instrument (Yin, 2014). The qualitative researcher's role involves exploring participants' experiences and analyzing the results in an unbiased manner (Moustakas, 1994). The role of the researcher includes selecting the study participants, collecting data, and analyzing and interpreting the data in an unbiased manner to elucidate the results (Yin, 2014). As such, I collected the data and analyzed the emerging themes on how copreneurs cope with WFC to attain business sustainability beyond 10 years.

I felt motivated to conduct this research because of my experience with the phenomenon. As a copreneur experiencing WFC, I was interested in ascertaining how copreneurs cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. The findings from the study may benefit copreneurs in Ghana who are experiencing similar challenges. Recognizing personal beliefs before collecting data help to reduce bias.

According to Cronin (2014), the researcher should avoid preconceived ideas including those derived from theory. Similarly, Moustakas (1994) recommended that researchers must avoid being judgmental by setting aside personal experiences and biases.

Additionally, to reduce bias, researchers must employ member checking by presenting participants with summaries of the data they shared for validation (Andrasik et al., 2014;

Thomas, 2017), and to ensure that themes identified reflect their true experiences (Winter & Collins, 2015). I achieved this by documenting only the copreneurs' reports of their experiences rather than ascribing my interpretation to their narration. I used thick descriptions to capture their experiences.

Depending on the type of qualitative data researchers want to collect, they may use structured, semistructured, or unstructured interviews. Employing structured interviews involves asking the same questions in the same order without deviating (Petty et al., 2012). Structured interviews may reduce research bias, but are not flexible enough to help elicit rich and thick descriptions (Petty et al., 2012). Unstructured interviews are more flexible but may result in long interview sessions and changes in the data over time (Petty et al., 2012). Researchers use semistructured interviews with predefined questions, probing further as participants respond to elicit rich data that depicts the perceptions and experiences of the participants (Bullock, 2016; Peters & Halcomb, 2015; Ratten & Tajeddini, 2017). Thus, I employed semistructured interviews for this study. I used an interview protocol to guide the conduct of the interviews (see Appendix A). The interview protocol is a useful tool that researchers use in qualitative multiple case studies to help them improve the reliability of the study by focusing on the research questions (Yin, 2014).

In conducting the study, I employed the three basic ethical principles of respect for persons, beneficence, and justice. I employed these ethical principles developed by the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (1979). I redacted the names of the participants and their businesses to ensure their confidentiality and to comply with ethical research principles.

Participants

The participants were copreneurs from copreneurial businesses in Accra who employed effective strategies to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. My strategy for gaining access to participants included requesting the assistance of the Association of Ghana Industries (AGI) and by inviting them to participate in the study. The AGI, an umbrella organization of the majority of businesses in various sectors of the economy, facilitated access to participants for the study. From their database, the AGI identified copreneurs who have been in existence for at least 10 years and obtained their permission for me to contact them for the study. I then secured participants' permission to be part of the study through an email invitation or by telephone. Engaging the assistance of the AGI and soliciting the help of participants to help in recruiting other participants was my strategy for accessing to participants.

After gaining access to the participants, I cultivated a professional working relationship with them to engender trust. Disclosing personal information may reduce uncertainty and facilitate relationship building, while establishing a working relationship with participants may enhance the credibility of the study (Lundy & Drouin, 2016; Yin, 2014). I used an informed consent form and an interview protocol to build trust and facilitate open discussion and data collection. It is vital for researchers to obtain the consent of participants before conducting the study (Check, Wolf, Dame, & Beskow, 2014; Dekking, van der Graaf, & van Delden, 2014; Yin, 2014). I shared the consent

form with them, which included the purpose and nature of the study and how their participation could affect business practice. Formalizing the relationship using the consent form helped to reassure them of the confidentiality of their involvement to sustain the relationship and ensure trust.

Using the interview protocol further enhanced the working relationship.

Researchers must establish a working relationship with participants to enable open discourse via an interview protocol (Yin, 2014). An interview protocol includes the interview questions and contains the general rules and procedures for conducting the interviews (Yin, 2014, 2016). Establishing such a relationship with participants before collecting the data engendered a good working relationship that provided the foundation on which they volunteered to participate in the study.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

I considered using qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods for this study. The qualitative method was the most appropriate in addressing the research question. The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore strategies that copreneurs use to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. Employing qualitative research enables the exploration of the real-life experiences of people (Marshall & Rossman, 2016), making its use appropriate for the nature of this study. Additionally, qualitative research usually results in rich data (Ganong & Coleman, 2014). Other researchers studying WFC have used qualitative methods. Ganong and Coleman (2014) used a qualitative method to explore family relationships. Zaman and Riyadh (2014)

employed a qualitative study to ascertain the causes of WFC in Dhaka, while Smith (2000) used a qualitative study to explore the management of work and family responsibilities in copreneurial businesses. The qualitative method provided me a means of exploring strategies that copreneurs use to cope with WFC to attain business sustainability.

Even though the quantitative method is equally relevant in conducting family business research, it does not provide a detailed description of the phenomenon under study. In quantitative research, the researcher uses definite variables, examines relationships, and tests hypotheses regarding a phenomenon (Molina-Azorin, 2016; Parry, Mumford, Bower, & Watts, 2014). With the quantitative method, the researcher captures numerical data to compare and rank variables (Thamhain, 2014). As such, the findings do not reflect the lived experiences of the target population, which is the main feature of the qualitative method.

Researchers use the mixed method to examine and validate the qualitative and quantitative method more holistically. With the mixed method, the researcher exploits the advantages of each method while offsetting their disadvantages to understand the phenomenon thoroughly (Green et al., 2014). For such an inquiry to be of value, the findings from the two methods must be amenable to the synthesis of the evidence from both approaches (Molina-Azorin, 2016; Lindorff & Sammons, 2018). Although using the mixed method makes up for the strengths and weaknesses of the qualitative and quantitative methods, the period for conducting this doctoral study was too short for such an elaborate method.

Research Design

I considered phenomenology, ethnography, and case study as possible research designs for this study. Qualitative researchers use phenomenology to make obvious the inherent structure and import of experience (Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014). Researchers use phenomenology for the comprehensive exploration of participants' the lived experiences (Moustakas, 1994; Schwarz & Lindqvist, 2018). A researcher uses ethnography to explore a group's culture (Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014; Pratt, 2015; Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018). Ultimately, I chose to use the qualitative multiple case study design for this study.

Case study research design is an empirical means of ascertaining the real context within which a contemporary phenomenon occurs (Yin, 2014). According to Yin (2014), this helps to bring clarity to improve understanding of the phenomenon when the boundaries of the case are not obvious. Researchers use case studies to explore the complexity of the phenomenon (Yin, 2014, 2016). Case studies are extensive and require the use of multiple sources of data such as personal interviews, secondary sources, and observations (Cronin, 2014; Harland, 2014; Fusch & Ness, 2015; Yin, 2014). I employed the qualitative multiple case study design to gather multiple sources of data to ascertain how copreneurs cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years using.

I used open-ended questions to interview copreneurs from three organizations. I kept interviewing participants from the three organizations until I achieved data saturation. Data saturation is the point at which collecting additional data provides minimal new information on the phenomenon under study (Morse, 2015; Morse, Lowery,

& Steury, 2014; Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014). Thus, I stopped collecting the data only upon reaching data saturation. Concentrating on the richness of the data and emerging themes instead of the number of participants helps the researcher determine when data saturation occurs (Ezzedeen & Zikic, 2015; Reid & Mash, 2014). Collecting rich and thick data through multiple sources helps the researcher to achieve data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Exploring the coping strategies that copreneurs use in managing WFC to achieve business sustainability necessitated in-depth discussions with a few copreneurs who could divulge their experiences and contexts.

Population and Sampling

The population for the study was copreneurs in Accra, who employed effective WFC coping strategies to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. Copreneurs from three copreneurial businesses participated in the study with interviews continuing until data saturation occurred. The general concept of sample size in qualitative studies is saturation (Malterud, Siersma, & Guassora, 2016). Qualitative researchers use small sample sizes for detailed exploration of the phenomenon (Gurbuz, 2016). In qualitative studies, only a small sample is necessary, with as few as 3 to 16 participants being adequate to conduct the study (Robinson, 2014). The ideal sample size for qualitative studies is to interview participants sequentially until no new themes emerge and saturation occurs (Meneses, Coutinho, & Pinho, 2014; Sankar, Ramanathan, & Kutty, 2017). As such, interviewing should concentrate on depth and the value of the information instead of the number of participants (Iversen, Midtgaard, Ekelin, & Hegaard, 2017). In qualitative studies, the researcher's interest is in the richness of the

data hence the sample size is not significant (Thaichon, 2017). The copreneurs from the three businesses constituted the sample for the qualitative multiple case study.

I used purposeful and snowball sampling techniques for the study. Purposeful sampling is the careful selection of cases that serve the purpose and the research question of the study (Palinkas et al., 2015). Researchers employ purposeful sampling to recruit information-rich participants (Iversen et al., 2017). Using purposeful sampling is best for qualitative studies as it results in the selection of participants with rich experience of the phenomenon (Iversen et al., 2017; Kunyk et al., 2016). I used purposeful sampling to elicit information from copreneurs with rich experience on the phenomenon under study. Purposeful sampling is the use of relatively small sample sizes to enhance thorough understanding of the phenomenon because the knowledge and experience of participants is what is relevant (Etikan, Abubakar, & Alkassim, 2016). Employing purposeful sampling provides rich information and offers valuable indicators of the phenomenon (Iversen et al., 2017). Using purposeful sampling of copreneurs from the AGI database helped to identify information-rich participants for the study.

I also chose snowball sampling to enable me to have access to more copreneurs, as some felt uncomfortable to divulge information about their business and personal lives. Additionally, participants found it easier to recruit other copreneurs to take part in the study. Snowball sampling is a technique whereby the researcher contacts a sample of participants to recruit more participants among their acquaintances (Dusek, Yurova, & Ruppel, 2015; Waters, 2015). Snowball sampling is the best means of exploring the opinions of hard-to-reach populations (Ashraf, Shurjeel, & Baloch, 2018; Olivieri-Mui,

Devlin, Ochoa, Schenck, & Briesacher, 2017). The informants provide leads to other potential research participants (Olivieri-Mui et al., 2017; Piszczek, DeArmond, & Feinauer, 2018). Piszczek et al., (2018) employed snowball sampling to obtain participants for their study to explore work-to-family role boundary configurations of family and non-family employees in family businesses as it was difficult to identify and have access to participants. With no intentions to generalize the findings of this study, depth (thick and rich data) rather than breadth (number of participants) was the main consideration factor.

I targeted copreneurs from three copreneurial businesses and continued interviewing until I reached data saturation. Qualitative sample sizes are usually small because saturation occurs at some point (Christov, Marquard, Avrunin, & Clarke, 2017; Meneses et al., 2014). According to Morse (2015) and Onwuegbuzie and Byers (2014), data saturation occurs when the researcher notes no new relevant information, perspectives, and experiences from additional interviews. As such, subsequent observations and interviews stop generating new knowledge already depicted by the data available. Kotlar and De Massis (2013) used purposeful sampling in their qualitative study of goals and goal formulation where they identified goal diversity as a direct result of the connection between the family, ownership, and business systems. They collected data until reaching saturation, stopping further interviews when no new information or themes emerged from the data. Similarly, Lee and Danes (2012) recruited participants using both purposive and snowball sampling to ascertain the differences between consulting approaches of family therapists working with family businesses and those of

business consultants. They used these sampling methods to locate information-rich key informants who had consulting experience with family businesses for several years in three different disciplines. They reached saturation with the seventh participant while analyzing the responses.

I conducted in-depth face-to-face interviews with copreneurs at locations that were convenient for them. Face-to-face interviews take place at a location chosen by participants to ensure their comfort (Caykoylu, 2016; Karim, 2016; Ruane-McAteer, O'Sullivan, Porter, Venderbos, & Prue, 2016). Allowing the participants to choose the location engendered trust and fostered a good working relationship.

Ethical Research

Conducting ethical research maintains the integrity of the study. Compliance with ethical research standards contributes to the body of evidence in an area of study (Patton, 2015; Stang, 2015). The National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (1979) articulated the principles of respect of persons, beneficence, and justice in conducting human research. Therefore, I adhered to the three basic ethical principles in conducting the study. Participants were older than 18 years and not from a protected class. I contacted potential participants by phone or email and provided them with the consent form.

After contacting the participants, I discussed the objective and the social impact of the study and requested for their signatures for the consent form during the face-to-face interviews. The consent form included information on the rights of participants to withdraw from the study at any point in time by contacting me via email or phone.

Additionally, there were no adverse repercussions if they decided to withdraw from the study. Participation was voluntary, and there was no inducement by way of incentives to take part in the study. The researcher must safeguard the rights and privacy of participants during the process of collecting, storing, analyzing the data, and in reporting and displaying the findings (Bullock, 2016; Yin, 2014). Yin (2014) suggested the use of pseudonyms for reporting and displaying the results of the study to ensure confidentiality of the participants. I redacted participants' names and those of their businesses to ensure confidentiality by assigning the letter "P" for participant and a number as in P1, P2, P3, to protect their identity. I was the only person with knowledge of their identity and their responses.

To protect the participants, I stored the recorded interviews, transcripts, company information, and other related materials electronically on an external hard drive with a protected password at a safe location. I stored all hard copies of the data including signed consent forms in a locked safe. I will keep both electronic and hard copies of all the data securely for 5 years before deleting and destroying them respectively. I only started the data collection after receiving approval from the IRB. Walden University's approval number for this study is 11-03-17-0366009, and it expires on November 2, 2018.

Data Collection Instruments

To explore the strategies that copreneurs use in coping with WFC to achieve business sustainability, I was the primary research instrument. In qualitative studies, the researcher is the primary instrument for data collection and analysis (Collins & Cooper, 2014; Fusch & Ness, 2015; Yin, 2016). The importance of interviewing in qualitative

studies is to enable participants to share their experiences regarding a phenomenon (Wahyuni, 2012). Researchers use interviews to capture participants' multiple realities and experiences in their real-life contexts (Johnstone, 2016). Additionally, researchers use the interview as the primary data source to explore the perceptions and experiences of the participants (Petty et al., 2012; Weller, 2017). I interviewed participants to elicit information on the coping strategies they use in managing WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. I used semistructured interviews, company documents, and reflective journaling to collect the data.

I used semistructured interviews for the data collection. Researchers employ semistructured interviews through open-ended questions to elicit information from participants for a holistic explanation of their experiences (Bullock, 2016; Ezzedeen & Zikic, 2015). Semistructured interview comprises predetermined questions with broad themes, interjected with probes to elicit elaborate responses (Bullock, 2016; Ratten & Tajeddini, 2017; Wethington & McDarby, 2016; Zaefarian, Eng, & Tasavori, 2016). I used semistructured interviews to elicit information from the copreneurs about the coping strategies they used in addressing WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. I used the interview protocol (see Appendix A) to facilitate the interviews and to focus on the topic to ensure reliability. An interview protocol includes the interview questions and contains the general rules and procedures for conducting the interviews (Yin, 2014, 2016). A researcher uses an interview protocol to focus on the topic for reliability (Baškarada, 2014; Yin, 2014, 2016). With the approval of participants, I audiotaped the interviews and recorded hand-written notes in a journal during the interview.

In addition to semistructured interviews, I obtained information from company documents from the copreneurial businesses. Company documents contain valuable information that may not be obtainable from other sources (De Massis & Kotlar, 2014; Singh, 2014; Yin, 2014). Reflective journaling is the process of documenting the reflections of the researcher about the experiences of research participants instead of the researcher's personal beliefs and biases. (Goodell, Stage, & Cooke, 2016; Kunyk et al., 2016; Peyrovi, Nasrabadi, & Valiee, 2016). I documented my observations throughout the research continuum including my personal and theoretical biases to identify themes and patterns for further analysis.

I used member checking to enhance the quality of the study. Researchers use member checking to improve the reliability and validity of their research (Moustakas, 1994; Thomas, 2017; Winter & Collins, 2015). Member checking is the process whereby participants review summaries of their statements to ensure their accuracy (Harvey, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014). Member checking by sharing the study findings and responses with participants may improve the validity of the study (Frohmader, Lin, & Chaboyer, 2016; Harvey, 2015; Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014). I used member checking to enable participants to review the summary of findings and amend as appropriate for an accurate reflection of their experiences.

Data Collection Technique

Data collection is an integral part of the research process. Researchers can obtain data for case studies through interviews, company documents, direct observations, participant observations, archival records, and physical artifacts (Yin, 2014, 2016). For

this study, I collected data through semistructured interviews with follow-up questions as appropriate. I reviewed company documents from the copreneurships such as balance sheets, mission statements, policy booklets, strategic plans, and action plans, and used a reflective journal to reflect on the data collected. I triangulated these data sources to identify themes and patterns for further analysis.

I collected primary data from in-depth semistructured interviews with three copreneurs at a location suitable for them to ascertain how they coped with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. I used the interview protocol (see Appendix A) to facilitate the interviews and to focus on the topic. The interview protocol included the interview questions and contained the general rules and procedures for conducting the interviews (Yin, 2014, 2016). In qualitative case studies, the primary method for data collection was through semistructured interviews to explore participants' perceptions and experiences of the phenomenon (Diehm & Lupton, 2014; Patton, Hong, Patel, & Kral, 2017; Petty et al., 2012). Advantages of interviews include (a) achievement of high response rate, (b) obtaining detailed information about participants perceptions and feelings, and (c) the ability to ask follow-up questions for clarity (Milne, 2014). Interviews are advantageous in enabling researchers to explore participants' perceptions and experiences of the phenomenon (Diehm & Lupton, 2014; Gholami & Zeinolabedini, 2017; Simmer, Pfoser, Grabner, Schauer, & Putz, 2017). Disadvantages of interviews include (a) breach of privacy due to face-to-face contact, (b) the cost of traveling to conduct the interview, and (c) the potential for the participant to refrain from answering

questions because he or she is uncomfortable (Yin, 2014, 2016). Utilizing additional data sources helped to enhance the reliability of the study.

I reviewed company documents from the copreneurships to augment data from the interviews. Researchers obtain background information from company documents about issues that are not possible to observe and to confirm information from other sources (De Massis & Kotlar, 2014; Singh, 2014; Yin, 2014). Advantages of using company documentation include the ability to review them repeatedly, and it covers a broad spectrum of material (Yin, 2014, 2016). One main setback of using company documentation is that participants may prevent access to the documents by deliberately withholding such material from the researcher (Yin, 2014, 2016). Researchers use reflective journaling to find themes and patterns in the data collected (Patel, Tchanturia, & Harrison, 2016). Researchers also use journaling to reduce bias and ensure that the data reflects the experiences of the participants instead of their personal beliefs about the research question (Goodell et al., 2016; Kunyk et al., 2016; Peyrovi et al., 2016). The strategy for collecting the data involved the steps below.

I started each interview by thanking the participant for volunteering to participate in the study and explaining the consent form. I then discussed confidentiality, their participation, and informed them that I would record the interview. Each interview comprised of nine questions with follow-up questions as appropriate. The questions focused on how they cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. Asking follow-up or probe questions is critical to provide a better understanding of the responses by gleaning more data for richer and comprehensive account of the

phenomenon (Ratten & Tajeddini, 2017; Thamhain, 2014; Zaefarian et al., 2016). Additionally, asking follow-up questions encourage participants to open up and share more details about their experiences (Wethington & McDarby, 2016; Zaefarian et al., 2016). I probed further for more explanations on participants' answers using follow-up questions for an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon. I wrote what I heard and observed during each interview in a reflective journal and later reflected on the information to identify themes and patterns to support the data. I requested for relevant company documents from the participants for further review and analysis to ascertain pertinent information that was useful for the study.

I conducted member checking to ensure that the details provided by participants were accurate. Member checking is the process of allowing participants to review summaries of their statements to ensure their accuracy (Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, & Walter, 2016; Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Thomas, 2017). After conducting the interviews and interpreting what the participant shared, I printed and shared the summary of the meaning of the answer to each question with each participant for validation. I gave the participants the opportunity to review and approve the narrative to ensure its accuracy. I continued member checking until data saturation occurred.

Data Organization Technique

After transcribing the audio recording verbatim into Microsoft Word, I captured salient information from the documents reviewed and the emerging themes and patterns from my reflective journal. Using a reflective journal enables the researcher to document emerging themes and patterns identified during data collection (Patel et al., 2016).

Researchers also use journaling to reduce bias by ensuring that data collected reflect the experiences of the participants instead of their personal beliefs about the research question (Goodell et al., 2016; Kunyk et al., 2016; Peyrovi et al., 2016). I documented my observations and reflections on the experiences of the study participants without allowing my biases and theoretical dispositions from influencing the data. I analyzed the emerging themes and patterns as documented to inform the findings of the study.

I used Nvivo 11 Pro software to facilitate data organization and analysis.

Qualitative researchers can use NVivo software to organize their data (Edward-Jones, 2014; Sotiriadou, Brouwers, & Tuan-Anh, 2014; Yin, 2014). I organized the data by identifying themes that were common among the participants. I labeled files such as audio recordings, transcriptions, reflective journal, corporate documents, consent forms, and interview questions in folder labeled "Copreneurship Data." I redacted their names and those of their businesses by assigning the letter "P" and a number as in P1, P2, P3, to protect their identity and ensure that each participant and their business had unique reference numbers. I have put all electronic data in a password-protected folder on my computer, with raw data and backup copies on an external drive in a locked filing cabinet. The data will be in a secured location for 5 years before destroying them to ensure the confidentiality of the participants in line with ethical principles.

Data Analysis

I analyzed the data collected to ascertain the coping strategies copreneurs employ to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability using methodological triangulation.

Selecting data from multiple data sources ensured the reliability and validity of the study

(Burau & Andersen, 2014; Yin, 2016). According to Fusch and Ness (2015), researchers achieved a more comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon with methodological triangulation than using one type of data alone. Researchers used methodological triangulation to compare the findings from diverse data sources for a deeper understanding of a phenomenon (Joslin & Müller, 2016). In their study of intergenerational management transfer of family businesses, Lefebvre and Lefebvre (2016) used methodological triangulation to explore future leadership projections and to ascertain the reliability and robustness of their findings. Collecting data from diverse sources facilitates the comprehensive compilation of relevant information for validation to enhance the robustness of the study findings (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Wahyuni, 2012). According to Yin (2014), using diverse sources of evidence for case study research enhances the accuracy and validity of the study. I used data from the interviews, company documents, and the reflective journal as data sources for triangulation.

I identified themes and patterns from the triangulated data to facilitate data analysis. In analyzing qualitative data, researchers must provide readers with concise findings emerging from identified themes that reflect the nature of the setting (Strandmark, 2015). It is important to identify and organize recurring and emerging themes or concepts from the data for further analysis (Germain et al., 2016; Ling, Payne, Connaire, & McCarron, 2016). I identified themes from all the data collected by querying the emerging concepts. After transcribing the interviews verbatim, I used NVivo 11 Pro software for data coding and sorting. Sotiriadou et al. (2014) noted Nvivo as a primary software package for qualitative management and business studies. Yin (2014) also

recommended NVivo for coding and organizing qualitative data. One of the benefits of using NVivo is the tools for visualizing data (Edward-Jones, 2014). Additionally, researchers use NVivo software for data organization and management, and for data analysis through theme identification to deduce conclusions (Sotiriadou et al., 2014). I used a systematic approach to analyze the recorded and transcribed interviews to identify key themes about how copreneurs cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years.

I used Nvivo to code the data for analysis. I analyzed the triangulated data using the framework of compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpretation, and conclusion recommended by Essary (2014), Ukwuoma (2015), and Yin (2016). I compiled all the data from the transcribed interviews and company documents, and those from my reflective journal in Microsoft Word. I then disassembled the data by prioritizing and organizing them, and then reassembled them by coding and synthesizing emerging patterns and themes using NVivo software. I employed methodological triangulation to analyze the data collected. Researchers use methodological triangulation to improve the accuracy of the data collected from multiple sources (Essary, 2014; Ukwuoma, 2015). Yin (2014) also suggested the use of triangulation to validate research data. I subsequently interpreted the results by comparing the emerging themes and aligning them with current literature and the conceptual framework underpinning the study to draw conclusions.

Reliability and Validity

Achieving reliability in qualitative research is the ability to duplicate all the components of the study. Lincoln and Guba (1985) established dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability as the four criteria necessary to ascertain the rigor and trustworthiness of qualitative studies. Accordingly, it is imperative to detail out research outcomes by testing the dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability of qualitative studies (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Mabuza, Govender, Ogunbanjo, & Mash, 2014; Wahyuni, 2012). I ensured the reliability of this study by using methodological triangulation for data collection and analysis and providing an audit trail using a detailed description of the research design, data collection, and analysis techniques. To ensure validity, I employed triangulation, member checking, data saturation, and provided thick and rich descriptions of the findings from the data.

Reliability

Achieving reliability in qualitative studies is the ability to duplicate the processes involved in conducting the research. Noble and Smith (2015) surmised that reliability in qualitative research constitutes the dependability of the study. According to Webster, Bowron, Matthew-Maich, and Patterson (2016), providing an audit trail by describing the research processes and design to enable future researchers to utilize the same framework ensures dependability. Dependability entails reporting the processes of the research in detail to enable another researcher to replicate the study in another context (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Maree & Potgieter, 2018). Dependability is also achievable through member checking to reduce inconsistencies for clarity and logical documentation (Frohmader et

al., 2016; Harvey, 2015). Member checking of data interpretation results in data saturation, which occurs when no new information emerges from new data (Morse et al., 2014; Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014; Winter & Collins, 2015). I reviewed the emerging themes until data saturation occurred.

Having an audit trail of the research processes contributed to the reliability of the study. A systematic and detailed description of the research design and processes that follow an audit trajectory is critical for future replication of the research design to attain reliability (Kotlar & De Massis, 2013; Petty et al., 2012). In their study on goal formulation processes in family businesses, Kotlar and De Massis (2013) established a chain of evidence by keeping an audit trail of the sequence of the activities undertaken. Ensuring research reliability by detailing a chronology of the research activities and processes provides a chain of evidence to determine if the findings are consistent and possible to replicate in another context.

To ensure the reliability of this study, I used an interview protocol, undertook member checking, and interviewed participants until data saturation occurred. I used an interview protocol (Appendix A) to guide the discussions with participants for consistency. Researchers use the interview protocol in case studies to improve the reliability of the study by focusing on the research questions (Baškarada, 2014; Yin, 2014, 2016). Researchers use member checking to ensure the accuracy of the data collected by asking participants to verify the accuracy of the information provided (Birt et al., 2016). Member checking helps to reduce discrepancies and achieve rich and logical documentation to ensure accuracy and credibility of the study (Birt et al., 2016; Marshall

& Rossman, 2016). I only stopped re-interviewing participants on reaching data saturation. Data saturation is the point at which collecting additional data provides minimal new information on the phenomenon under study (Massey, Chaboyer, & Aitken, 2014; Morse et al., 2014; Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014). Using member checking, the interview protocol, and ensuring data saturation helped to enhance the reliability of the study.

Validity

Viability of qualitative research requires trustworthiness and academic rigor. The equivalent of internal validity in quantitative studies is credibility in qualitative studies while external validity refers to transferability (Garside, 2014). Internal validity is the production of an accurate account of an experience that is familiar to others experiencing the same phenomenon while external validity or generalizability is the ability to replicate the study in other contexts (Petty et al., 2012; Yin, 2014). According to Garside (2014), demonstrating the credibility of the study is to show the researcher's engagement within the field of study. Confirming the findings of the study through member checking, triangulation, or peer-review could enhance credibility (Garside, 2014). Researchers must establish a working relationship with participants to enhance credibility (Yin, 2014). Building a relationship with the participants through engagement, in addition to using different sources of data for triangulation, member checking, and ensuring data saturation ensures credibility (Lundy & Drouin, 2016). To enhance credibility I employed member checking by allowing participants to review summaries of their statements to ensure their accuracy. I also triangulated the data using interview data and a reflexive journal, and I

cultivated a professional working relationship with participants to engender trust. I used an informed consent form and an interview protocol to build trust to facilitate open discussion and data collection. I used the consent form to formalize my relationship with participants and reassure them of the confidentiality of their involvement to sustain the relationship and ensure trust. Using the interview protocol further enhanced the working relationship. Establishing such a relationship with participants before collecting the data engendered a good working relationship based on which they volunteered to participate in the study.

For transferability, the findings of the study must be applicable in other contexts. Transferability relies on detailed descriptions of the context of the study, and the ability to transfer it into another context for evaluation (Maree & Potgieter, 2018).

Transferability is achievable when another researcher can determine its applicability in his or her context (Elo et al., 2014; Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Noble & Smith, 2015). To ensure the validity of this study, I actively engaged the participants to win their confidence to enable them to provide the necessary answers to the questions by having initial discussions with them about the objective, scope, and significance of the study. I also triangulated the data, used member checking, and continued re-interviewing participants until reaching data saturation.

The participants reviewed the summary of the findings to ensure that they were a truthful representation of their responses. Undertaking member checking through follow-up interviews to ensure that the transcript is an accurate reflection of participants' experiences and perceptions enhances validity (Andrasik et al., 2014; Jennings, Edwards,

Jennings, & Delbridge, 2015; Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014). All copreneurs answered the same open-ended questions in the same order repeatedly until no new themes or data occurred. I checked the data for similar responses and used NVivo 11 Pro to identify themes to establish internal validity. Other strategies for ensuring the validity of data in qualitative studies include using rich, thick descriptions, and member checking (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Stewart & Harwood, 2017). Additionally, academic scholars of high repute assessed the interview questions before IRB approval, and I will make transcripts available upon request.

Confirmability is the same as dependability. Confirmability is objectivity as relates to quantitative research (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Symon, Cassell, & Johnson, 2018). Confirmability requires an examination of the study to ascertain the extent to which the interpretation and recommendations support the data (Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). The confirmability of the study is the extent to which participants determine the findings of the study instead of the biases of the researcher (Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). An audit trail involving a systematic approach to the research processes helps to achieve confirmability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Maree & Potgieter, 2018). According to Garside (2014), confirmability is using an audit trail to demonstrate the credibility of the study to enhance the accuracy of both the analysis and findings. I have provided a rich and detailed description of the data collection and analysis process to provide an audit trail and used multiple data sources to enhance the credibility of the study.

Transition and Summary

In this study, I explored how copreneurs cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years using the qualitative method and the multiple case study design. I used purposive and snowball sampling to enable me to have access to more copreneurs as some did not want to divulge details of their work and family lives. I collected and analyzed data from copreneurs from three copreneurial businesses in Accra and continued re-interviewing them until reaching data saturation. I collected the data using semistructured interviews, company documents, and a reflective journal. I analyzed the data by triangulating the data from the three data sources and aligned the findings with the conceptual framework to draw conclusions. I employed the five steps recommended by Yin (2016) to facilitate data analysis using NVivo. I conducted the study using ethical practices as recommended in the Belmont Report and redacted the names of the copreneurs and those of their businesses to ensure confidentiality. I will keep all the data securely for 5 years before destroying them. I ensured the reliability of the study by using member checking, an interview protocol, and data saturation. To ensure validity, I employed methodological triangulation, member checking, interview protocol, data saturation, an audit trail of the research process, and provided thick and rich descriptions of the findings from the data.

In Section 3, I identify and analyze the emerging themes and discuss the findings according to the themes identified. I compare the findings to other peer-reviewed studies and the conceptual framework and indicate how the findings affect business and professional practice. I indicate how the findings could benefit society and make

recommendations for future research. I also recommend how to disseminate the findings.

I provide my reflections on the doctoral study process and make a concluding statement on the study.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies that copreneurs use to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. Findings from the study showed that copreneurs employed integrated coping strategies to manage WFC. Integrated coping strategies constitute a combination of personal coping strategies and family-friendly organizational support (Kaur, 2012; Mache et al., 2015). The alignment of integrated coping results in reciprocal coping by couples (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012), which is the focus of one of the models I used for this study. Findings from the data analysis showed that the primary themes I identified in the data aligned well with elements of the conceptual framework. Foley and Powell (1997) developed the WFC model for business/marriage partners to address how copreneurs experience WFC as individuals and as couples. Copreneurs in this study employed coping strategies both as individuals and as couples to reduce WFC. Additionally, they aligned personal coping strategies with family-friendly organizational support to manage WFC (thereby reducing WIF and FIW) to attain business sustainability beyond 10 years. By aligning their coping strategies, copreneurs were able to manage couple-level WIF and couple-level FIW. The emerging themes from the data analysis were: (a) personal coping, (b) family-friendly organizational supports, and (c) integrated coping.

Presentation of the Findings

The central research question guiding this study was: What strategies do copreneurs use to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years? Findings from the study showed that copreneurs aligned personal coping and familyfriendly organizational support in managing WFC to sustain their businesses, which aligns with the reciprocal coping model of Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2012). In the following subsections, I discuss the three key themes that emerged from the data analysis (see Table 2) and the associated subthemes that emerged under personal coping and family-friendly organizational support. The subthemes for personal coping strategies were: (a) planning, (b) effective communication, (c) delegating, (d) asking others for help, (e) negotiating, (f) compromising, (g) taking care of marriage, and (h) spending time with family. The subthemes for family-friendly organizational support strategies were: (a) flexible work arrangements, (b) maternity/paternity leave/leave of absence, and (c) childcare. Integrated coping constitutes a combination of personal coping and familyfriendly organizational supports that the copreneurs use in managing WFC to attain business sustainability.

Table 2

Emerging Themes and Subthemes

Emerging themes	Subthemes		Int	erview	questi	ons	
		Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5	Q6	Q7
Personal coping			I	C	I	C	
	Planning	V	V	V	V	V	V
	Effective communication	\checkmark	$\sqrt{}$	$\sqrt{}$		$\sqrt{}$	$\sqrt{}$
	Delegating	\checkmark	$\sqrt{}$		$\sqrt{}$	$\sqrt{}$	$\sqrt{}$
	Negotiating	\checkmark	$\sqrt{}$	$\sqrt{}$			$\sqrt{}$
	Asking others for help		$\sqrt{}$			$\sqrt{}$	$\sqrt{}$
	Spending time with family				$\sqrt{}$	$\sqrt{}$	
	Taking care of marriage			$\sqrt{}$			
Family-friendly organizational support							
_ ··· FF	Flexible work arrangements Maternity/	V		√		V	V
	Paternity leave					$\sqrt{}$	
	Leave of absence					$\sqrt{}$	
	Childcare			$\sqrt{}$			
Integrated coping		√		1		1	1
Reciprocal coping (al	lignment of integrated coping)						

Note. I = individual: C = couple.

Emergent Theme 1: Personal Coping

Personal coping involves the personal resources that individuals use to manage WFC. Somech and Drach-Zahavy, (2017) established that there were no universally appropriate coping strategies because individual coping styles depend on the particular type of conflict in specific situations. Kumar and Arain (2018) established that with low social support, an increase in personal coping decreased WFC. The following subthemes were the personal coping strategies used by copreneurs in the study to manage disagreement over the allocation of time, to manage WIF and FIW, and to support each other to cope with WFC.

Planning. Participants mentioned planning more than any other coping strategy (see Table 3). Lack of proper planning might result in business failure (Oudah et al., 2018). According to Donkor, Donkor, and Kankam-Kwarteng (2017), most family businesses do not incorporate strategic planning into their management activities due to lack of a long-term vision. It is important for every family business owner (including copreneurs) to have a plan to sustain the firm (Oudah et al., 2018). Findings from the study showed that all the copreneurial businesses had strategic plans to guide their operations in addition to operational plans. Strategic plans reviewed showed that, while P1 and P2 have 5-year plans for their businesses (2015-2019 and 2013-2017 respectively), P3 has a 3-year plan (2015-2017). P2 and partner have a succession plan as well. Succession planning might result in family business sustainability (Adedayo & Ojo, 2016; Adedayo et al., 2016). All the businesses of the copreneurs interviewed had vision and mission statements in their strategic plans and strategies in place for how they will attain those overarching ideals.

Participants underpin their businesses by planning adequately for their operations. According to participants, implementing their strategic plans contributed to the sustainability of the businesses. Table 3 shows the study findings regarding how participants use planning to cope with WFC. P1 indicated planning as one of the coping strategies he uses to manage WFC when he disagrees with his partner over the allocation of time each of them gives to work and family domains (Q1). P1 further indicated that he plans to tackle any issue that may arise from individual-level WIF (Q3). He also indicated that he plans well in advance to be able to support his partner to manage WFC

(Q7). For P2, she and her partner learned quickly to plan adequately for work and family when they experienced challenges in managing work and family domains.

To manage individual FIW, P2 plans family needs and executes them with the help of her partner. In her response to the question on how she and her partner support each other to manage WFC (Q7), P2 said that their business has survived for over 17 years because they took a deliberate action to develop a strategic plan to guide the strategic direction of their business as well as a succession plan. To cope with disagreements over the allocation of time that she and her partner give to work and family (Q1), P3 indicated, among other things, that they use planning. P3 said that they underpin everything they do with planning, both at home and at work. P3 uses planning to manage individual-level WIF and individual- and couple-level FIW. P3 said, "I usually plan adequately to avoid family situations interfering with work. More often than not, I plan ahead and organize everything in advance." In response to a question on how they support each other to cope with WFC, P3 said, "We plan adequately for home and work and use a combination of our own strategies and some deliberate ones we have developed at work based on our specific needs." Table 3 indicates the frequency with which copreneurs mentioned planning throughout the interview as a strategy used to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability. P1 indicated in response to three questions that he uses planning to manage disagreement over the allocation of time (Q2), to manage individual-level WIF (Q3), and to support each other to manage WFC (Q7). %

Table 3

Number of Times Participants Mentioned Planning

Questions where participants mentioned planning	Frequency	% of occurrence
P1, Interview Questions 2, 3 &7	3	33.3%
P2, Interview Questions 2, 5, &7	3	33.3%
P3, Interview Questions 2, 4, 5, 6, &7	5	56.0%

Subtheme and past literature. Evidence from the study supported findings in previous studies on the importance of planning to the sustainability of the family business (including copreneurship). Oudah et al. (2018) recommended that for family businesses (and copreneurship) to be sustainable, the owners must place importance on strategic planning, succession planning, and corporate governance. Thus, planning as a subtheme resonates with findings in existing literature on strategies that copreneurs use in managing WFC.

Copreneurs in the study used planning both as individuals and as a dyad in managing WFC to achieve business sustainability. Clark et al. (2014) noted that work planning resulted in both lower WIF and FIW. Findings from the study support this assertion. Study participants used planning as a coping mechanism to manage disagreements over the allocation of time that each of them gives to work and family, to manage individual-and couple-level WIF and individual- and couple-level FIW, and to support each other to manage WFC (as depicted in Table 3). Foley and Powell (1997) developed the WFC model for business/marriage partners to address how couples who

live and work together experience WFC. They defined WFC for copreneurs as conflict that results when the individuals of the copreneurship disagree over the allocation of time that each gives to work and family. All three copreneurs indicated that they use planning to manage disagreement over the allocation of time. P1 uses planning to manage individual WIF, while P2 uses planning for individual FIW. P3 said, "As a team, we underpin everything we do with planning. We have our schedules at work and a work plan for the whole year, which we revise monthly and weekly based on what is happening. In the same light, we plan our home life as well." P2 also said, "We plan adequately for work and family," and that "Our business has survived for over 17 years now because we took a deliberate action to plan and make it work." On the individual level, P1 uses planning to avoid WIF. P3 uses planning to manage individual- and couple-level FIW, and couple-level WIF (see Table 3). All three copreneurs use planning to support each other to cope with WFC (see Table 3). Overall, copreneurs indicated that planning formed an integral part of their work and family lives, which they used to address WFC effectively to contribute to the survival of their businesses.

Effective communication. Effective communication is essential in copreneurial businesses. Communication is the process of talking to others to provide support to relieve strain in a particular context (Bhangoo, 2015). Open communication is indispensable to the copreneurial business (Kim & Kim, 2018). Van der Merwe et al. (2012) surmised that the sustainability of a copreneurial firm might depend on effective communication. All study participants used effective communication to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. Findings from the study showed that

copreneurs used effective communication in managing disagreements over the allocation of time that each of them gives to work and family (Q2), in managing couple-level WIF (Q4), and in supporting each other to manage WFC (Q7). Whereas all the three participants use effective communication to manage disagreements over the allocation of time and to support each other to cope with WFC, P3 also communicates effectively to manage individual- and couple-level WIF (Q3 and 4) and couple-level FIW (Q6; see Table 4). Company documents I reviewed showed that in addition to face-to-face communication, study participants also use memos, emails, and telephone calls for communication. P1 said, "We communicate well. We discuss work and family problems all the time." P2 and partner communicate effectively by discussing issues to find solutions to prevent FIW. P3 believes that effective communication even in the bedroom can help to address boardroom issues. Table 4 shows the frequency of themes related to effective communication.

Table 4

Number of Times Participants Mentioned Effective Communication

Questions where participant mentioned effective communication	Frequency	% of occurrence
P1, Interview Questions 2 & 7	2	22.2%
P2, Interview Questions 2, 6, & 7	3	33.3%
P3, Interview Questions 2, 3, 4, 6, & 7	5	55.6%

Subtheme and past literature. Business leaders' use of effective communication as a coping strategy to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability is evident in the

existing literature. Van der Merwe et al. (2012) surmised that the sustainability of a copreneurial firm might depend on effective communication. Other researchers have found that effective communication between copreneurs resulted in improved business outcomes and low WFC (Clark et al., 2014; Helmle et al., 2014). Effective communication is one of the main factors that helped family businesses to manage conflicts (Leiß & Zehrer, 2018). Graham and Dixon (2017) found that effective communication is a personal strategy that coaches used for coping with work and family demands. Thus, copreneurs may use effective communication to cope with WFC to attain business sustainability.

Delegating. The findings of the study showed that delegating was one of the strategies copreneurs used in managing WFC. A critical aspect of managing people is the ability to delegate (Hutchinson, 2018; Terblanche, Albertyn, & Van Coller-Peter, 2018). Kumar and Arain (2018) recommended that employers should empower employees to delegate work responsibilities as a personal coping strategy. Individuals maintained their productivity and reduced WFC by delegating to others (Baltes & Clark, 2015). Table 5 shows the frequency of occurrence of delegation in the responses of copreneurs.

Table 5

Number of Times Participants Mentioned Delegating

Questions where participants mentioned delegating	Frequency	% of occurrence
P1, Interview Questions 2, 3 & 7	3	33.3%
P2, Interview Questions 2, 3, & 5	3	33.3%
P3, Interview Questions 5 & 6	2	22.2%

Copreneurs from the study delegate responsibilities to others to reduce WFC. Copreneurs use delegation as a coping strategy to support each other to cope with WFC and in managing disagreements over the allocation of time that each of them gives to work and family. Participants further use delegation to manage both WIF and FIW at the individual level and to manage FIW at the level of the dyad. P1 indicated that he and his partner delegate work to other staff members to reduce stress and WFC. Additionally, P1 and P2 use delegation to manage WIF. P2 said, "Delegation of some aspects of our work and family lives helps us to cope with the associated conflicts." As an individual, P1 delegates to others to manage WIF. P1 said, "If push comes to shove, I delegate to others if appropriate." P2 delegates responsibilities to other people to manage WIF. P2 uses delegation to manage individual- level FIW, while P3 uses delegation to manage individual- and couple-level FIW (see Table 5). To manage FIW, P3 said, "I delegate for other people to support me where applicable. I have support at home and at work, and it is pretty easy to delegate to others." To manage FIW, P2 said, "I usually delegate to my staff." Evidence from the third-quarter progress report for 2017 strategic plan for P2's company showed that P2 and partner delegated responsibilities to other staff members.

Subtheme and past literature. The relationship between delegation and WFC is evident in the existing literature. Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2017) found a negative relationship between delegation at home and work and WIF, but not with FIW. Findings from the study however showed that copreneurs use delegation for managing disagreement over the allocation of time, for managing Individual-level WIF, and for managing individual- and couple-level FIW. The evidence from the findings further

confirms that copreneurs use delegation as a personal coping mechanism to manage WFC. According to Kumar and Arain (2018), employers should encourage employees to delegate work responsibilities as a personal coping strategy. The subtheme of delegation does not only confirm evidence from existing literature but also adds new knowledge to the WFC interface.

Negotiating. Negotiations proved to be an effective coping strategy to address WFC. Copreneurs must negotiate the borders between work and family to manage WFC (Helmle et al., 2014). Negotiating was one of the strategies copreneurs use to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. Findings from the study showed that copreneurs use negotiations as a coping mechanism to manage WIF both as individuals and as a dyad. While P1 and P3 use negotiations to manage individual-level WIF, P1 and P2 use negotiations to manage couple-level WIF (see Table 6). P3 uses negotiations to support her partner to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability (Q7). P3 also negotiates with her partner when they have disagreements over the allocation of time that each of them gives to work and family (Q2). Negotiation is an important coping strategy that copreneurs use to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability. Participants employ negotiations to avoid individual- and couple-level WIF, to support each other to cope with WFC, and to manage WFC when they disagree over the allocation of time that each of them gives to work and family. Table 6 shows the frequency of themes related to negotiating. The evidence from the findings shows that copreneurs find negotiations as an effective personal coping strategy to manage WFC.

Table 6

Number of Times Participants Mentioned Negotiating

Questions where participants mentioned negotiating	Frequency	% of occurrence
P1, Interview Questions 3 & 4	2	29%
P2, Interview Question 4	1	14.3%
P3, Interview Questions 2, 3, & 7	3	33.3%

Subtheme and past literature. There is a link between negotiations as a personal coping strategy and WFC. Dual-career earners (such as copreneurs) used negotiation and mutual support to reduce WFC (Matias et al., 2017; Matias & Fontaine, 2015). The study findings show that copreneurs use negotiations to manage disagreement over the allocation of time and in supporting each other to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability.

Asking others for help. Copreneurs use help-seeking behaviors to manage WFC. According to Clark et al. (2014), help-seeking behaviors resulted in low WFC. The study participants use help-seeking as a means to cope with WFC to attain business sustainability. P1 asks others for help as a personal coping strategy when managing disagreements over the allocation of time with his partner, in managing individual-level WIF, and in supporting his partner to manage WFC. P1 said, "We ask staff members to help ease the stress of having to deal with work and family problems." The rate of occurrence of responses of help-seeking for P1 is 33.3%, while P2 and P3 had 11.1% each (see Table 7). P2 also indicated the use of domestic staff at home to see to family

issues. P2 and partner also use help-seeking as a strategy to manage couple-level FIW, while P3 use seeks help to manage individual-level WIF. According to her, "We usually get support from work to handle such problems."

Table 7

Number of Times Participants Mentioned Asking for Help

Questions where participants mentioned asking for help	Frequency	% of occurrence
P1, Interview Questions 2, 3 & 7	3	33.3%
P2, Interview Question 6	1	11.1%
P3, Interview Question 3	1	11.1%

Subtheme and past literature. Literature on help-seeking behavior for managing WFC is scant. Berkovich and Eyal (2018) found help-seeking as an adaptive personal coping strategy for managing difficulties. According to Clark et al. (2014), help-seeking behaviors resulted in low WFC. The evidence from the findings supports the available literature on help-seeking. Participants use help-seeking as a personal coping strategy to manage difficulties they experience in dealing with WFC. Additionally, participants use help-seeking in managing disagreements over the allocation of time, in managing individual-level WIF and couple-level FIW, and in supporting each other to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability.

Spending time with family. Spending time with family is another strategy that copreneurs use to manage WFC. Spending quality time with family is a motivating factor for establishing copreneurships (Othman et al., 2016). Clark et al. (2014) surmised that

spending time with family resulted in positive WFC outcomes and lower WIF. However, all study participants indicated that they spend time with family to cope with individual FIW. P3 further spends more time with family to reduce couple-level FIW. P1 said, "Making time for fun with the family frees you from the stress you have to deal with family pressures that result from not being active with family matters." In 2015 and 2016, P1 and partner took their annual leave at the same time. A memo to the administrative executive dated 17 September 2015 and 8 August 2016 indicated that P1 and partner would be on leave for two weeks on each occasion. P1 confirmed during member checking that they wanted to spend some quality time together. For P2, she spends time with the family to make up for lost time when she gets busy with work. P1 said, "We plan ahead, delegate to others, and spend time quality time together." Evidence from the study points to a new direction in the WFC where spending time with family results in a reduction in individual- and couple-level FIW.

Table 8

Number of Times Participants Mentioned Spending Time with Family

Questions where participants mentioned spending time with family	Frequency	% of occurrence
P1, Interview Question 5	1	11.1%
P2, Interview Question 5	1	11.1%
P3, Interview Questions 5 & 6	2	22.2%

Subtheme and past literature. Findings from the study differ from the available literature on spending time with family as a personal coping strategy. Whereas Clark et

al. (2014) found that spending time with family resulted in lower WIF, findings from the study showed otherwise. As indicated in Table 8, participants spend time with family to manage individual- and couple level FIW. Thus, adding new knowledge to existing knowledge on how spending time with family reduced FIW and WFC.

Taking care of marriage. The business and family lives of the copreneurs intertwine. In copreneurial businesses, the domains of work and family intermingle as couples deal with pressures from work and family as individuals and as a couple (Machek et al., 2016). Clark et al. (2014) found that taking care of marriage was one of the main strategies that copreneurs employed to manage WFC. Taking care of marriage resulted in lower WIF (Clark et al., 2014). Findings from the study showed that P1 and P3 take care of marriage to manage individual-level FIW and couple-level WIF respectively (see Table 9). P3 said, "We make sure our marriage is on point" as a means to manage WIF with her partner. P3 noted the importance of taking care of marital needs, while P1 indicated that she spends quality time with her husband to manage FIW.

Table 9

Number of Times Participants Mentioned Taking Care of Marriage

Questions where participants mentioned taking care of marriage	Frequency	% of occurrence
P1, Interview Question 5	1	11.1%
P2, None	0	0%
P3, Interview Questions 4	1	11.1%

Subtheme and past literature. Evidence from the study partially corroborates that of literature on taking care of marriage as a coping mechanism for managing WFC. According to Clark et al. (2014), taking care of marriage resulted in lower WIF. Findings from the study showed that copreneurs take care of marriage to manage both individual-level FIW and couple-level WIF. This finding on how taking care of marriage affects WFC further extends knowledge in the WFC literature.

Emergent Theme 2: Family-friendly Organizational Support

Organizational supports can help individuals to manage WFC. Family-friendly organizational support that helps employees to manage WFC include family leave, provision of child-care assistance, and having flexible working hours (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). Others include workplace policies, benefits, and services such as parttime work, flexible work arrangements, and paternal/maternal leave, medical and vacation expenses, childcare, therapy, and sick leave (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). The benefits of providing coping mechanisms at the organizational level are evident in the extant literature. Gurbuz et al. (2013) found that providing organizational supports to employees led to low WIF and FIW. Similarly, Mihelic and Tekavcic (2014) established that employees who benefitted from organizational supports were likely to have low WFC. Fiksenbaum (2014) also found that organizational supports such as on-site childcare, telecommuting, and flexitime promoted a supportive work environment and contributed to lower WFC. According to Kahya and Kesen (2014), perceived organizational support resulted in lower WFC. Organizational support such as flexible work arrangement and on-site childcare geared towards assisting employees to cope with WFC are becoming common (Baltes & Clark, 2015). Hao et al. (2016) proved that the provision of organizational supports had an adverse effect on WIF and FIW. French et al., (2018) established that family-friendly organizational support was critical in reducing WFC. As indicated in Table 2, family-friendly organizational support that participants use are (a) flexible work arrangements, (b) maternity/paternity leave/ leave of absence, and (c) childcare.

Flexible work arrangements. Flexible work arrangements emerged as a subtheme for family-friendly organizational support. Baltes and Clark (2015) surmised that flexible work arrangement is the most common type of family-friendly organizational support. Flexible work arrangement constitutes one of the formal means by which organizations support employees to reduce WFC (Peretz, Fried, & Levi, 2018). Flexible work arrangements provided employees the opportunity to work outside the regular work schedule and locations (Groen, van Triest, Coers, & Wtenweerde, 2018; Stirpe & Zárraga-Oberty, 2017). According to Kahya and Kesen (2014), flexible work arrangements resulted in lower WFC. Fiksenbaum (2014) also found that organizational supports such as telecommuting and flexible work arrangement promoted a supportive work environment and contributed to lower WFC. Similarly, Kaur and Kumar (2017) surmised that dual-career couples used flexible work arrangements to manage WFC. Thus, business owners including copreneurs can use flexible work arrangements to reduce WFC.

Table 10

Number of Times Participants Mentioned Flexible Work Arrangements

Questions where participants mentioned flexible work arrangements	Frequency	% of occurrence	
P1, Interview Question 2, 4 & 6	3	33.3%	
P2, Interview Question 4 & 6	2	22.2%	
P3, Interview Question 6 & 7	2	22.2%	

All three copreneurs indicated that they use flexible work schedules to manage WFC. Table 10 shows that PI uses flexible work arrangements to manage WFC when he and his partner disagree over the allocation of time that each spends on work and family (Q2). Also, P1 and P2 use flexible work arrangements to manage couple-level WIF (Q4). All participants use flexible work arrangements to cope with couple-level FIW (Q6). P1 said that he uses flexible work arrangements including telecommuting as one of the most successful coping strategies they use at work to ease WFC. P2 and P3 have flexible work schedules as a workplace policy for the copreneurs as well as other senior staff. P3 uses flexible work arrangements as a coping strategy to support her spouse to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability (Q7). It is evident from the findings that, the use of flexible work schedule is common to all participants interviewed, and that the practice is important in helping them to address WFC.

Subtheme and past literature. Participants in the study use flexible work arrangements to manage WFC. Flexible work arrangement is the most common type of family-friendly organizational support (Groen et al., 2018; Peretz et al., 2018; Stirpe &

Zárraga-Oberty, 2017). Evidence from the study shows that flexible work arrangement is common to all the participants and the most commonly used organizational support (see Table 2 and Table 10). All the participants use flexible work arrangement to manage disagreement over the allocation of time, to support each other to manage WFC and to manage couple-level WIF and FIW (WFC) (all couple-related coping). The evidence confirms the finding from Kaur and Kumar (2017) that dual-career couples used flexible work arrangements to manage WFC. The evidence from the study confirms existing knowledge on how couples cope with WFC.

Maternity/paternity leave/leave of absence. Maternity/paternity leave and leave of absence are family-friendly organizational support that the participants use at their workplaces, which help them to reduce WFC. The Ghana labour act (2003) entitles women to a fully paid maternity leave for 12 weeks, excluding her annual leave. The act also prescribes a minimum of 15 days fully paid annual leave to workers, after 12 months of continuous service. There is neither a provision in the act for paternity leave nor leave of absence. Findings from the study showed that all the businesses of participants have employment contracts with their employees including themselves detailing the terms and conditions of employment. All the employment contracts reviewed adhered to the provisions of the Ghana labour act (2003) by providing for maternity leave and annual leave. In addition to the statutory requirements, P1's company also provides paternity leave to employees. Bartel, Rossin-Slater, Ruhm, Stearns, and Waldfogel (2018) noted that fathers' access to paternity leave was low in private businesses. Evidence from Table 11 shows that, while P1 uses maternity/paternity leave to manage couple-level WIF, P2

uses a leave of absence and maternity leave to manage couple-level FIW. P2 indicated that sometimes they take a leave of absence to help them to manage FIW as a couple. Although P3's company adheres to the Ghana labour act (2003), she did not indicate its use in managing WFC. Evidence from the study showed that participants use paid leave to manage WFC.

Table 11

Number of Times Participants Mentioned Maternal/Paternal Leave/Leave of Absence

Questions where participants mentioned maternal/paternal leave/leave of absence	Frequency	% of occurrence
P1, Interview Question 4	1	11.1%
P2, Interview Question 6	1	11.1%
P3, None	0	0%

Subtheme and past literature. Paid leave may help reduce WFC among copreneurial couples. Allen et al. (2014b) found little evidence between paid parental leave and WFC. Findings from the study however showed that two out of the three participants use parental leave to manage couple-level WIF and couple-level FIW. Out of the three participants interviewed, only one indicated the use of paternity leave to manage WFC, thereby supporting Bartel et al. (2018) assertion of low access to paternity leave in private businesses. The results from the study extend the literature further with the use of paid leave in managing WFC.

Childcare. On-site childcare is another form of organizational support provided to ease WFC of employees. Childcare is a type of benefit offered as family-friendly

organizational support to help reduce WFC of employees (Shoba & Suganthi, 2018). Provision of on-site childcare resulted in positive organizational outcomes such as organizational commitment, low absenteeism, and turnover (Baltes & Clark, 2015). Fiksenbaum (2014) found that the provision of childcare at workplaces contributed to lower WFC. P1 indicated that the provision of childcare services for their staff help them to focus more on work without stressing out about childcare after school. P1 said, "Having workplace policy on childcare, maternity leave, telecommuting, and flexible work arrangements can help you to sustain your business despite the challenges that you would experience." As indicated in Table 12, P1 mentioned on-site childcare as one of the policies available at his workplace to reduce WIF. Evidence from the study suggests that provision of on-site childcare may help to reduce WFC.

Table 12

Number of Times Participants Mentioned Childcare

Questions where participants mentioned childcare	Frequency	% of occurrence
P1, Interview Question 4	1	11.1%
P2, None	0	0%
P3, None	0	0%

Subtheme and past literature. Provision of on-site childcare may help to reduce WFC of copreneurs. Using on-site childcare may help to reduce WFC of employees (Fiksenbaum, 2014; Shoba & Suganthi, 2018). Li, Butler, and Bagger (2018) also noted that organizational support policies such as on-site childcare offer tangible support for

employees. Evidence from the study supports the notion that providing on-site childcare services might reduce WFC. This finding confirms existing knowledge in the literature and extends the knowledge with the finding that using on-site childcare services help one of the copreneurs to reduce WIF and by extension, WFC.

Emergent Theme 3: Integrated Coping

Integrated coping constitutes the use of personal coping strategies and familyfriendly organizational support to reduce WFC. Mache et al. (2015) established that doctors in German hospitals used integrated coping strategies to reduce WFC. Similarly, Kumar and Arain (2018) concluded that personal coping in addition to social support (which includes family-friendly organizational support) is important in decreasing WFC. Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2017) noted the importance of the joint responsibility of the organization and the individual in deploying appropriate coping strategies to reduce FIW and WIF and in effect WFC. Findings from this study showed that copreneurs use integrated coping to manage disagreement over the allocation of time that each of them gives to work and family, to manage couple-level WIF and couple-level FIW, and to support each other to manage WFC (see Table 2). The alignment of couple-level WIF and couple-level FIW resulted in reciprocal coping which confirms the conceptual framework (see Table 2). From the study, it is evident that participants use both personal coping strategies and family-friendly organizational support to manage WFC, and that reciprocal coping for participants occurred when managing couple-level WIF and couplelevel FIW.

Evidence from the study shows that copreneurs use personal coping and organizational support to manage WFC. When personal coping and family-friendly organizational support align, it results in low WFC (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). The alignment of integrated coping strategies appeared to be the ideal means for coping with WFC as both WIF and FIW decreased (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2012). Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2017) noted that deploying personal coping strategies with organizational support reduced WIF and FIW (WFC). The point at which personal coping strategies align with organizational support suggests reciprocal coping, which confirms the conceptual framework by Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2012). From Table 2, it is evident that reciprocal coping occurs with the management of couple-level WIF and couple-level FIW, thereby confirming the conceptual framework.

Relating Findings to the Conceptual Framework

I used the WFC for business/marriage couples and the reciprocal coping model as the conceptual framework to underpin this study. Foley and Powell (1997) developed the WFC model for business/marriage partners to address how copreneurs manage WFC as individuals and as couples. WFC for copreneurs resulted when the individuals of the copreneurship disagreed over the allocation of time that each gives to work and family (Foley & Powell, 1997). WFC experienced by copreneurs resulted from the personal characteristics of each partner, as well as the couple as a unit (Foley & Powell, 1997). If copreneurs do not manage WFC, it might affect copreneurial success (Foley & Powell, 1997; Kurniawan & Sanjaya, 2016). Thus, I explored the experiences of the copreneurs not only from their individual perspectives but also as a couple.

The second conceptual framework is the reciprocal coping model. Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2012) developed the reciprocal coping model to indicate how individuals cope with WFC. The main concept of this model is that individuals effectively cope with WFC by aligning their personal coping strategies with family-friendly organizational support. They concluded that the alignment of personal coping with family-friendly organizational support family appeared to be the ideal means for coping with WFC as both WIF and FIW decreased. Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2017) confirmed that employing personal coping strategies with organizational support reduced WIF and FIW. Adopting this model enabled me to explore both internal (personal coping) and external coping strategies (family-friendly organizational support) that copreneurs employ in managing WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years.

Evidence from the study shows that copreneurs use integrated coping strategies to manage WFC. As shown in Table 2, copreneurs use integrated coping to manage disagreements over the allocation of time they give to work and family. Copreneurs also use integrated coping to manage couple-level WIF and couple-level FIW, as well as in supporting each other to manage WFC. Copreneurs employ reciprocal coping when their integrated coping strategies aligned. Somech and Drach-Zahavy, (2017) established that there were no universally appropriate coping strategies because individual coping styles depended on the particular type of conflict in specific situations. It is evident from the study that copreneurs use reciprocal coping to manage couple-level WIF and couple-level FIW (see Table 2). Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2012) concluded from their findings that the reciprocal model was the ideal model for coping with WFC as both WIF and FIW

decreased with the alignment of integrated coping strategies. Employing personal coping strategies and organizational supports reduced WIF and FIW (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2017). Findings from the study support the conceptual framework at the couple-level but not that of the individual-level.

Relating Findings to Effective Business Practice

WFC may have a negative effect on business outcomes. Despite the high rate of family businesses and their contribution towards economic development, their survival rate including that of copreneurship is low (Hiebl, 2015). Copreneurs' ability to cope with WFC could result in the sustainability of the copreneurial business (Kurniawan & Sanjaya, 2016; Machek et al., 2016). When family business owners experienced low FIW, they were more likely to sustain their businesses for 10 years (Stafford et al., 2013). WFC might affect business sustainability (Putnik et al., 2018). Findings from the study show that copreneurs must align their integrated coping strategies to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability. Findings from the study showed that copreneurs use personal coping, family-friendly organizational support, and integrated coping as strategies to manage WFC. The evidence from the study which supports the conceptual framework is that although personal coping and organizational support help to reduce WFC, when personal coping and organizational support align, both FIW and WIF reduce, thereby lowering WFC. I discuss the three emerging themes and how they affect business practice in the following sub-sections.

Personal coping. Employing personal coping may help to manage WFC and influence business outcomes. There were no universally appropriate coping strategies

because individual coping styles depended on the particular type of conflict in specific situations (Somech & Drach-Zahavy, 2017). Personal coping decreased WFC with low social support (Kumar & Arain, 2018). Graham and Dixon (2017) found effective communication as a personal strategy that coaches used for coping with work and family demands. Employers should empower employees to delegate work responsibilities as a personal coping strategy (Kumar & Arain, 2018). Dual-career earners (such as copreneurs) used negotiation and mutual support to reduce WFC (Matias et al., 2017; Matias & Fontaine, 2015). Help-seeking is a personal coping strategy for managing difficulties (Berkovich & Eyal, 2018). According to Clark et al. (2014), help-seeking behaviors resulted in low WFC. Clark et al. found that spending time with family and taking care of marriage resulted in lower WIF. However, findings from the study show that copreneurs use spending time with family as personal coping strategy to manage couple-level FIW.

Evidence from the study shows that participants use planning and delegating to manage individual-and couple-level FIW. Participants also use effective communication, asking for help, and spending time with family for managing couple-level FIW; and taking care of marriage to manage individual-level FIW. Dartey-Baah (2015) found that Ghanaian business leaders who experienced greater WIF and FIW (WFC) had less job satisfaction. Employee FIW was more likely to result in turnover intention than WIF (Aboobaker et al., 2017). Chief executive officers who experienced FIW were unable to make accurate decisions, which had negative consequences on business performance

(Reina et al., 2017). The dire consequences of FIW are evident. Therefore, copreneurs may employ personal coping strategies to manage FIW to reduce WFC.

Family-friendly organizational supports. Family-friendly organizational supports affect business practice in various ways. The impact of WFC on both work and family included burnout, low work performance, absenteeism, and low work satisfaction (Schooreel & Verbruggen, 2016). French et al., (2018) established that family-friendly organizational support was critical in reducing WFC. Providing organizational supports to employees led to low WIF and FIW (Gurbuz et al., 2013; Hao et al., 2016). Similarly, employees who benefitted from organizational supports were likely to have low WFC (Fiksenbaum, 2014; Kahya & Kesen, 2014). Organizational support such as flexible work arrangement and on-site childcare help employees to cope with WFC (Baltes & Clark, 2015). Evidence from the literature shows that using organizational support may reduce WFC.

Findings from the study show that participants use flexible work arrangements, maternity/paternity leave and leave of absence, and childcare services as organizational support to manage WFC. Baltes and Clark (2015) noted flexible work arrangement as the most common type of family-friendly organizational support. Flexible work arrangements provided employees the opportunity to work outside the regular work schedule and locations (Groen et al., 2018; Stirpe & Zárraga-Oberty, 2017). Fiksenbaum (2014) also found that organizational supports such as telecommuting and flexible work arrangement promoted a supportive work environment and contributed to lower WFC. Similarly, Kaur and Kumar (2017) surmised that dual-career couples used flexible work

arrangements to manage WFC. Thus, copreneurs can use flexible work arrangements to reduce WFC.

Provision of family-friendly organizational supports may have different business outcomes. Bartel et al. (2018) noted that fathers' access to paternity leave was low in private businesses. Provision of on-site childcare resulted in positive organizational outcomes such as organizational commitment, low absenteeism, and turnover (Baltes & Clark, 2015). Using on-site childcare may help to reduce WFC of employees (Shoba & Suganthi, 2018). Participants from the study used flexible work arrangements to manage disagreements over the allocation of time that each of them gives to work and family, to manage couple-level WIF and FIW, and to support each other to manage WFC. The copreneurs use maternity/paternity leave/ leave of absence to manage couple-level WIF and FIW, and childcare services to manage WIF. Providing organizational supports to employees led to low WIF and FIW (Hao et al., 2016). Therefore, copreneurs may adopt family-friendly organizational support policies in their workplaces to provide support to manage WFC for positive business outcomes.

Integrated coping. Study participants use integrated coping (a combination of personal coping and organizational supports) to manage WFC to attain business sustainability beyond 10 years. Doctors in German hospitals used integrated coping strategies to reduce WFC (Mache et al., 2015). Kumar and Arain (2018) concluded that personal coping in addition to social support (which includes family-friendly organizational support) is important in decreasing WFC. Similarly, Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2017) noted that deploying personal coping strategies with organizational

support reduced WIF and FIW (WFC). Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2012) affirmed from their findings that the alignment of integrated coping strategies (reciprocal coping) appeared to be the ideal means for coping with WFC as both WIF and FIW decreased. Findings from this study showed that copreneurs use integrated coping to manage disagreement over the allocation of time that each of them gives to work and family, to manage couple-level WIF and couple-level FIW, and to support each other to manage WFC (see Table 2). The alignment of couple-level WIF and couple-level FIW resulted in reciprocal coping which confirms the conceptual framework (see Table 2). It is important for copreneurs to note that managing couple-level WIF and couple-level FIW using personal and organizational support provide the alignment necessary for reciprocal coping as suggested by Somech and Drach-Zahavy (2012) to occur.

Applications to Professional Practice

Copreneurs experience WFC, which can have a negative effect on business sustainability. The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that copreneurs use in managing WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. The findings of this study are important in providing copreneurs with coping skills to enable them to manage WFC more effectively to achieve business sustainability. Experiencing WFC might have a negative effect on the business (Putnik et al., 2018). FIW is likely to result in poor business performance (Aboobaker et al., 2017). Health risks resulting from WFC such as stress might affect indirect business costs through absenteeism and poor work performance (Akinbode et al., 2018). Thus, WFC may have negative consequences on business sustainability.

Findings from the study showed that employing integrated coping strategies to reduce WFC may result in positive business outcomes and sustainable copreneurships. Results from the study showed that copreneurs use integrated coping to manage disagreement over the allocation of time that each of them gives to work and family and to support each other to cope with WFC. Copreneurs also use integrated coping strategies to manage couple-level FIW and couple-level WIF. Kumar and Arain (2018) concluded that personal coping in addition to social support (which includes family-friendly organizational support) was important in decreasing WFC. The copreneurs understudied use planning, effective communication, delegating, negotiating, asking for help, spending time with family, and taking care of marriage as personal coping strategies to manage WFC. Flexible work arrangements are the main organizational supports that the copreneurs use in combination with personal coping strategies to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability. Therefore, incorporating family-friendly organizational support such as telecommuting and flexible time into workplace policies may help copreneurs to manage WFC to achieve positive business outcomes. Perceived organizational support resulted in low WFC and improved professional commitment (Zheng & Wu, 2018). Copreneurs can use the findings of this study to improve business practice by operationalizing the recommendations and using integrated coping strategies to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability.

Family business advisors can also contribute to improved business practice by developing appropriate capacity building content to address WFC. Family business advisors help to increase firm performance (Naldi, Chirico, Kellermanns, & Campopiano,

2015; Strike, Michel, & Kammerlander, 2018) and reduce agency costs (Michel & Kammerlander, 2015). The study participants indicated the lack of capacity building programs on copreneurship and WFC as hindering business performance. Family business advisors can also use the findings to develop specific training programs to address the capacity building needs of copreneurs to provide them with the requisite skills to manage WFC more effectively to sustain their businesses.

Implications for Social Change

Copreneurs' ability to manage WFC may enhance business sustainability (Machek et al., 2016). Family businesses such as copreneurships contribute substantially to the economic growth of many nations (Oudah et al., 2018; Vieira, 2018), and to poverty reduction in many developing countries such as Ghana. Therefore, the sustainability of family businesses is critical to national development. Family business and copreneurial firms constitute a sizeable proportion of small businesses. In Ghana, small businesses constitute approximately 92% of registered enterprises and contribute about 70% to GDP (Acquah & Agyapong, 2015). Despite their unique importance to the development of national economies, they are prone to failure with only 10-15% transitioning to the third generation (Oudah et al., 2018). The findings of the study may impact social change by sustaining copreneurial jobs, reducing unemployment, and contributing to wealth creation. Wealth creation may contribute to the improved standard of living for Ghanaians to reduce poverty.

Recommendations for Action

Copreneurs mix their professional and family lives, which makes them prone to WFC and business failure. The ability of copreneurs to manage WFC may enhance business sustainability (Machek et al., 2016). It is best practice for researchers to provide recommendations of study findings (Funder et al., 2014). Therefore, recommending actionable strategies on how to manage WFC may help copreneurs and potential copreneurs to cope with WFC more effectively to achieve business sustainability.

Recommended actions for copreneurs and family business advisors are: (a) copreneurs can mentor others, (b) copreneurs must build their capacity to manage WFC, (c) copreneurs must integrate family-friendly organizational support into their workplace policies to reduce WFC, and (d) family business advisors must support clients to manage WFC.

Successful copreneurs can mentor other copreneurs by sharing their experiences and coping strategies to enable them to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability. Copreneurs' ability to manage WFC may improve business sustainability (Kurniawan & Sanjaya, 2016). The study participants recommended mentoring as an effective means by which other copreneurs can benefit from their experiences to cope with WFC. As such, I recommend that successful copreneurs can mentor other copreneurs to learn from their experiences to enable them to manage WFC to improve business outcomes.

I recommend that copreneurs must build their capacity to manage WFC.

Copreneurs must endeavor to build their capacity to help them to manage WFC to sustain their businesses. Capacity building of employees is critical to business survival (Chang,

Huang, & Kuo, 2015). Participants complained about the lack of specific capacity building programs for copreneurs and the effective management of WFC. By building their capacity in the effective management of WFC, copreneurs may be able to cope with WFC issues that can affect their businesses for sustainable outcomes.

Copreneurs must integrate family-friendly organizational support into their workplace policies to reduce WFC. French et al. (2018) found that family-friendly organizational support was the most important source of support in reducing WFC. Employers used family-friendly organizational support to reduce WFC and alleviate the negative effects of WFC on employee productivity for improved job performance (Abadi, 2018; Matias et al., 2017). Thus, employing organizational support such as flexible work arrangements may help copreneurs to manage WFC more effectively. Flexible work arrangement was the most common type of organizational support that the study participants used to manage WFC. Dual-career couples used flexible work arrangements to manage WFC (Kaur & Kumar, 2017). Fiksenbaum (2014) found that telecommuting and flexitime promoted a supportive work environment and contributed to lower WFC. Thus, I recommend that copreneurs must incorporate family-friendly organizational support in their workplaces to help reduce WFC in combination with their personal coping strategies to achieve business sustainability.

Family business advisors must advise and support their clients to manage WFC. Family business advisors help to increase firm performance (Strike et al., 2018). Family business advisors may also obtain knowledge from the findings of this study on effective coping strategies for WFC to create a new stream of business by providing support

services to copreneurs to improve business outcomes. Participants indicated the lack of specific training and capacity building programs on copreneurship and WFC. Family business advisors can also use the findings to develop specific training programs to address the capacity building needs of copreneurs to provide them with the requisite skills to manage WFC more effectively to sustain their businesses.

It is important to share research findings. Budden and Michener (2018) recommended best practices for disseminating research findings to both technical and general audiences. They suggested using scholarly publications such as peer-reviewed journal articles and technical reports, and via newspapers and magazines for general audiences. I will disseminate the findings from this study through peer-reviewed journals, technical reports, workshops, training programs, seminars, and conferences for small businesses and family firms, including those organized by the AGI. I will also present a summary of the findings to participants of the study for them to share with their staff and peers.

Recommendations for Further Research

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that copreneurs use to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years.

Recommendations for future research are as follows:

The main limitation of this study was the sample size of participants. Future
researchers may consider replicating this study with a larger sample size in a
different geographical location outside Accra.

- 2. Another recommendation could be to conduct a quantitative study to investigate the relationship between personal coping and family-friendly organizational support and the level at which they align to lower WFC.
- 3. Additionally, researchers may further consider other research methods and designs on copreneurial financial sustainability and business growth.
- 4. Another area of study could be to delve deep into copreneurial generational succession.
- Future researchers should consider studies on gender dimensions in copreneurial businesses with transposition of the traditional role of the man as the head.

Reflections

My doctoral journey at Walden University has helped me to fulfill a life-long dream of obtaining a doctorate to impact society with the knowledge acquired. I experienced many health issues throughout my journey but the love and support from my family coupled with my determination to succeed helped me to pull through. I had the privilege of interviewing copreneurs who use effective coping strategies to manage WFC to achieve business sustainability. Contrary to my expectation, the copreneurs were eager to share their experiences to enhance knowledge in copreneurial scholarship. The copreneurs enjoyed the discourse and wished that researchers would conduct more studies on copreneurs to have a better appreciation of the peculiar exigencies they experience in balancing work and family life to achieve business sustainability. As a

copreneur, I learned the importance of using integrating coping strategies to manage WFC by aligning personal coping with family-friendly organizational support.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that copreneurs used in managing WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. Copreneurs from three copreneurial businesses located in the Greater Accra region of Ghana, who have employed effective strategies to cope with WFC to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years participated in the study. I Used NVivo 11 Pro software to facilitate data organization and analysis, conducted methodological triangulation with data from semistructured interviews, company documents, a reflective journal, and member checking. Emerging strategy themes were (a) personal coping, (b) family-friendly organizational supports, and (c) integrated coping. Key findings show that copreneurial couples used integrated coping strategies to manage WFC. Couple-level WIF and FIW reduced WFC with the alignment of copreneurs' personal coping strategies and family-friendly organizational support to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years.

References

- Aazami, S., Shamsuddin, K., & Akmal, S. (2015). Examining behavioral coping strategies as mediators between work-family conflict and psychological distress. *Scientific World Journal*, 2015, 1-7. doi:10.1155/2015/343075
- Abadi, K. (2018). Relationship between the perception of organizational support and reward to vocational high school teacher job performance in province of DKI Jakarta. *Advanced Science Letters*, 24, 2686-2689. doi:10.1166/asl.2018.11035
- Aboobaker, N., Edward, M., & Pramatha, K. P. (2017). Work-family conflict, family-work conflict and intention to leave the organization: Evidences across five industry sectors in India. *Global Business Review*, 18, 524-536.

 doi:10.1177/0972150916668696
- Acquah, M., & Agyapong, A. (2015). The relationship between competitive strategy and firm performance in micro and small businesses in Ghana: The moderating role of managerial and marketing capabilities. *Africa Journal of Management*, 1, 172-193. doi:10.1080/23322373.2015.1025684
- Adedayo, O. S., Olanipekun, O. J., & Ojo, O. (2016). Planning for succession and firm's sustainability: Evidence from family-owned businesses in Lagos and Ogun States, Nigeria. *Issues in Business Management and Economics*, 4, 63-69. doi:10.15739/IBME.16.009
- Adedayo, S. O., & Ojo, J. O. (2016). Family conflict and sustainability of family-owned

- businesses in Lagos and Ogun States, Nigeria. *Pyrex Journal of Business and Finance Management Research*, 2, 89-96. Retrieved from http://www.pyrexjournals.org/pjbfmr
- Adisa, T. A., Osabutey, E., & Gbadamosi, G. (2016). Understanding the causes and consequences of work-family conflict: An exploratory study of Nigerian employees. *Employee Relations*, *38*, 770-788. doi:10.1108/ER-11-2015-0211
- Ahmed, S. F., Eatough, E. M., & Ford, M. T. (2018). Relationships between illegitimate tasks and change in work-family outcomes via interactional justice and negative emotions. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *104*, 14-30. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2017.10.002
- Akinbode, G. A., Folusho, A., & Israel, U. N. (2018). Psychopathology of work-family and family-work conflicts among dual income earners: An empirical analysis from cosmopolitan Lagos. *Advances in Social Sciences Research Journal*, *5*(3), 289-314. doi:10.14738/assrj.53.419
- Akoensi, T. D. (2017). "In this job, you cannot have time for family": Work-family conflict among prison officers in Ghana. *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, 18, 207-225. doi:10.1177/1748895817694676
- Al-Dajani, H., Bika, Z., Collins, L., & Swail, J. (2014). Gender and family business:

 New theoretical directions. *International Journal of Gender and Entrepreneurship*, 6, 201-230. doi:10.1108/IJGE-11-2013-0069
- Allen, T. D., Cho, E., & Meier, L. L. (2014a). Work-family boundary dynamics. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 1, 99-121.

- doi:10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-031413-091330
- Allen, T. D., & Finkelstein, L. M. (2014). Work-family conflict among members of full-time dual-earner couples: An examination of family life stage, gender, and age.

 *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology, 19, 376-384. doi:10.1037/a0036941
- Allen, T. D., Lapierre, L. M., Spector, P. E., Poelmans, S. A., O'driscoll, M., Sanchez, J. I., . . . Geurts, S. (2014b). The link between national paid leave policy and workfamily conflict among married working parents. *Applied Psychology*, *63*, 5-28. doi:10.1111/apps.12004
- Amubode, A. A., Rauf-Lawal, H. M., & Owodiong-Idemeko, B. M. (2016). Attitude of couples and marriageable singles in establishing joint fashion business. *Journal of Management and Sustainability*, 6(1), 192-205. doi:10.5539/jms.v6n1p192
- Andrasik, M. P., Chandler, C., Powell, B., Humes, D., Wakefield, S., Kripke, K., & Eckstein, D. (2014). Bridging the divide: HIV prevention research and black men who have sex with men. *American Journal of Public Health*, *104*, 708-714. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2013.301653
- Annor, F. (2016). Work-family demands and support: Examining direct and moderating influences on work-family conflict. *Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health*, *31*, 87-103. doi:10.1080/15555240.2015.1119656
- Annor, F., & Amponsah-Tawiah, K. (2017). Evaluation of the psychometric properties of two scales of work-family conflict among Ghanaian employees. *Social Science Journal*, *54*, 336-345. doi:10.1016/j.soscij.2017.04.006
- Ashraf, E., Shurjeel, H. K., & Baloch, Z. (2018). Knowledge level of farmers regarding

- producing, processing and marketing of dates in Panjgur- Balochistan, Pakistan. Sarhad Journal of Agriculture, 34, 251-257. doi:10.17582/journal.sja/2018/34.2.251.257
- Ayala, J. C., & Manzano, G. (2014). The resilience of the entrepreneur. Influence on the success of the business: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 42, 126-135. doi:10.1016/j.joep.2014.02.004
- Baltes, B. B., & Clark, M. A. (2015). Achieve work-family balance through individual and organizational strategies. In E. A. Locke (Ed.), *Handbook of Principles of Organizational Behavior*, (579–594). doi:10.1002/9781119206422.ch31
- Bartel, A. P., Rossin-Slater, M., Ruhm, C. J., Stearns, J., & Waldfogel, J. (2018). Paid family leave, fathers' leave-taking, and leave-sharing in dual-earner households. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, *37*(1), 10-37. doi:10.1002/pam.22030
- Barton, A. W., Futris, T. G., & Nielsen, R. B. (2015). Linking financial distress to marital quality: The intermediary roles of demand/withdraw and spousal gratitude expressions. *Personal Relationships*, 22, 536-549. doi:10.1111/pere.12094
- Baškarada, S. (2014). Qualitative case study guidelines. *Qualitative Report*, 19, 1-18. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr
- Berkovich, I., & Eyal, O. (2018). Help me if you can: Psychological distance and help-seeking intentions in employee-supervisor relations. *Stress and Health*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1002/smi.2802
- Bhangoo, J. K. (2015). Coping strategies: A study among working couples. *Indian*

- Journal of Psychological Science, 5(2), 91-101. Retrieved from http://www.napsindia.org
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative*Health Research, 26, 1802–1811. doi:10.1177/1049732316654870
- Bodolica, V., Spraggon, M., & Zaidi, S. (2014). Boundary management strategies for governing family firms: A UAE-based case study. *Journal of Business Research*, 68, 684-693. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.08.003
- Budden, A. E., Michener, W. K. (2018). Communicating and disseminating research findings. In F. Recknagel & W. Michener (Eds.), *Ecological Informatics* (289-317). doi:10.1007/978-3-319-59928-1_14
- Bullock, A. (2016). Conduct one-to-one qualitative interviews for research. *Education for Primary Care*, 27, 330-332. doi:10.1080/14739879.2016.1176874
- Burau, V., & Andersen, L. B. (2014). Professions and professionals: Capturing the changing role of expertise through theoretical triangulation. *American Journal of Economics and Sociology*, 73, 264-293. doi:10.1111/ajes.12062
- Campopiano, G., De Massis, A., Rinaldi, F. R., Sciascia, S. (2017). Women's involvement in family firms: Progress and challenges for future research. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 8, 200-212. doi:10.1016/j.jfbs.2017.09.001
- Carr, J. C., & Hmieleski, K. M. (2015). Differences in the outcomes of work and family

- conflict between family and nonfamily businesses: An examination of business founders. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, *39*, 1413-1432. doi:10.1111/etap.12174
- Caykoylu, S. (2016). Emotional spousal support can have unintended organizational outcomes. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 11(5), 69-81. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v11n5p69
- Chang, W., Huang, C., & Kuo, Y. (2015). Design of employee training in

 Taiwanese nonprofits. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 44(1), 25–46.

 doi:10.1177/0899764013502878
- Check, D. K., Wolf, L. E., Dame, L. A., & Beskow, L. M. (2014). Certificates of confidentiality and informed consent: Perspectives of IRB chairs and institutional legal counsel. *IRB: Ethics and Human Research*, *36*, 1-8. Retrieved from https://www.thehastingscenter.org/irb_article
- Christov, S. C., Marquard, J. L., Avrunin, G. S., & Clarke, L. A. (2017). Assessing the effectiveness of five process elicitation methods: A case study of chemotherapy treatment plan review. *Applied Ergonomics*, *59*, 364-376. doi:10.1016/j.apergo.2016.08.032
- Clark, M., Michel, J., Early, R. J., & Baltes, B. B. (2014). Strategies for coping with work stressors and family stressors: Scale development and validation. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 29, 617-638. doi:10.1007/s10869-014-9356-7
- Clark, S. M. (2000). Work/family border theory: A new theory of work/family balance.

 Human Relations, 53, 747-767. doi:10.1177/0018726700536001

- Collins, C. S., & Cooper, J. E. (2014). Emotional intelligence and the qualitative researcher. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *13*, 88–103. doi: 10.1177/160940691401300134
- Craft, S. M., Seal, K. L., Juyoung, J., & Danes, S. (2015). Spousal expectations and perceived social support during the creation of a new business venture. *Journal of Couple and Relationship Therapy*, *14*, 169-195.

 doi:10.1080/15332691.2014.921263
- Cronin, C. (2014). Using case study research as a rigorous form of inquiry.

 Nurse Researcher, 21, 19-27. doi:10.7748/nr.21.5.19.e1240
- Dahl, M. S., Van Praag, M., & Thompson, P. (2015). Entrepreneurial couples. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 2015, 14776–14776. doi:10.5465/ambpp.2015.204
- Dai, W. (2016). Dual-earner couples in the United States. *Wiley Blackwell Encyclopedia of Family Studies*, 2, 1-6. doi:10.1002/9781119085621.wbefs406
- Dartey-Baah, K. (2015). Work-family conflict, demographic characteristics and job satisfaction among Ghanaian corporate leaders. *International Journal of Business*, 20, 291-307. Retrieved from http://www.craig.csufresno.edu/ijb
- Dawson, A., & Mussolino, D. (2014). Exploring what makes family firms different:

 Discrete or overlapping constructs in the literature?. *Journal of Family Business*Strategy, 5, 169-183. doi:10.1016/j.jfbs.2013.11.004
- Deacon, J. H., Harris, J. A., & Worth, L. (2014). Who leads?: Fresh insights into roles and responsibilities in a heterosexual copreneurial business. *Internal Journal of Gender and Entrepreneurship*, 6, 317-335. doi:10.1108/IJGE-03-2014-0009

- Dekking, S. A., van der Graaf, R., & van Delden, J. J. (2014). Strengths and weaknesses of guideline approaches to safeguard voluntary informed consent of patients within a dependent relationship. *BMC Medicine*, *12*, 52-62. doi:10.1186/174170151252
- Dello Sbarba, A., & Marelli, A. (2018). Family-controlled businesses and management control: The framing of shareholder-oriented practices. *Journal of Management Control*, 28, 417–456. doi:10.1007/s00187-018-0255-3
- De Massis, A., & Kotlar, J. (2014). The case study method in family business research:

 Guidelines for qualitative scholarship. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 5,

 15-29. doi:10.1016/j.jfbs.2014.01.007
- Diehm, R., & Lupton, M. (2014). Learning information literacy. *Information Research*, 19(1), 61-72. Retrieved http://www.informationr.net/ir
- Donkor, J., Donkor, G. N. A., & Kankam-Kwarteng, C. (2017). Strategic planning and family business performance in Ghana: Moderating role of IT capability.

 **Academy of Entrepreneurship Journal, 23(2), 1-12. Retrieved from https://www.abacademies.org/journals/academy-of-entrepreneurship-journal-home.html
- Dusek, G., Yurova, Y., & Ruppel, C. P. (2015). Using social media and targeted snowball sampling to survey a hard-to-reach population: A case study. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, 10, 279-299.doi:10.28945/2296
- Edward-Jones, A. (2014). Qualitative data analysis with Nvivo. *Journal of Education for Teaching: International Research and Pedagogy*, 40, 193-195.

- doi:10.1080/02607476.2013.866724
- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014).

 Qualitative content analysis. *Sage Open*, 4(1), 1-10.

 doi:10.1177/2158244014522633
- Endler, N. S., & Parker, J. D. A. (1990). *Coping inventory for stressful situations (CISS):*Manual. Toronto, Canada: Multi-Health System.
- Essary, M. L. (2014). Key external factors influencing successful distance education Programs. *Academy of Educational Leadership Journal*, 18(3), 121-136.

 Retrieved from www.alliedacademies.org/academy-of-educational-leadership-journal
- Etikan, I., Abubakar, M., Alkassim, S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5, 1-4. doi:10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Ezzedeen, S. R., & Zikic, J. (2015). Finding balance amid boundarylessness: An interpretive study of entrepreneurial work-life balance and boundary management. *Journal of Family Issues*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1177/0192513X15600731
- Fellows, K. J., Chiu, H. Y., Hill, E. J., & Hawkins, A. J. (2016). Work-family conflict and couple relationship quality: A Meta-analytic study. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, *37*, 509-518. doi:10.1007/s10834-015-9450-7
- Fiksenbaum, L. M. (2014). Supportive work-family environments: Implications for

- Work-family conflict and well-being. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 25, 653-672. doi:10.1080/09585192.2013.796314
- Fitzgerald, M. A., & Muske, G. (2016). Family businesses and community development:

 The role of small business owners and entrepreneurs. *Community Development*,

 47, 412-430. doi:10.1080/15575330.2015.1133683
- Foley, S., & Powell, G. N. (1997). Reconceptualizing work-family conflict for business/marriage partners: A theoretical model. *Journal of Small Business Management*, *35*, 36-47. https://www.questia.com/read/1G1-20240694/reconceptualizing-work-family-conflict-for-business-marriage
- Forkuoh, S. K., Appienti, W. A., & Osei, A. (2012). The effects of cultural values and practices on the development of small and medium scale enterprises in the Ashanti region of Ghana. *International Journal of Advanced Research in Management and Social Sciences*, 1(4), 1-19. http://www.garph.co.uk/IJARMSS
- Foss, N. J., & Hallberg, N. L. (2014). How symmetrical assumptions advance strategic management research. *Strategic Management Journal*, 35, 903-913. doi:10.1002/smj.2130
- French, K. A., Dumani, S., Allen, T. D., & Shockley, K. M. (2018). A meta-analysis of work-family conflict and social support. *Psychological Bulletin*, *144*(3), 284-314. doi:10.1037/bul0000120
- Frohmader, T. J., Lin, F., & Chaboyer, W. (2016). Patient perceptions of nurse mentors facilitating the Aussie heart guide: A home-based cardiac rehabilitation programme for rural patients. *Nursing Open*, *3*(1), 41-50. doi:10.1002/nop2.34

- Funder, D. C., Levine, J. M., Mackie, D. M., Morf, C. C., Sansone, C., Vazire, S., & West, S. G. (2014). Improving the dependability of research in personality and social psychology. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, *18*(1), 3–12. doi:10.1177/1088868313507536
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research.

 *Qualitative Report, 20, 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR
- Ganong, L., & Coleman, M. (2014). Qualitative research on family relationships. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *31*, 451-45.

 doi:10.1177/0265407514520828
- Garside, R. (2014). Should we appraise the quality of qualitative research reports for systematic reviews, and if so, how?. *Innovation: European Journal of Social Science Research*, 27, 67-79. doi:10.1080/13511610.2013.777270
- Germain, A., Nolan, K., Doyle, R., Mason, S., Gambles, M., Chen, H., . . . Ellershaw, J. (2016). The use of reflective diaries in end of life training programmes: A study exploring the impact of self-reflection on the participants in a volunteer training programme. *BMC Palliative Care*, *15*(28), 1-11. doi:10.1186/s12904-016-0096-5
- Ghana Labour Act (2003). Labour Act, 651 § 20 & 57. Retrieved from http://www.melr.gov.gh/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/LABOUR-ACT-2003.pdf
- Gholami, J., & Zeinolabedini, M. (2017). Peer-to-peer prescriptions in medical sciences:

 Iranian field specialists' attitudes toward convenience editing. *English for Specific Purposes*, 45, 86-97. doi:10.1016/j.esp.2016.09.005

- Gomez-Mejia, L. R., Cruz, C., & Imperatore, C. (2014). Financial reporting and the protection of socioemotional wealth in family-controlled firms. *European Accounting Review*, 23(3), 387-402. doi:10.1080/09638180.2014.944420
- Goodell, L. S., Stage, V. C., & Cooke, N. K. (2016). Practical qualitative research strategies: Training interviewers and coders. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 48, 578-585. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2016.06.001
- Graham, J. A., & Dixon, M. A. (2017). Work-family balance among coach-fathers: A qualitative examination of enrichment, conflict, and role management strategies. *Journal of Sport Management*, *31*, 288-305. doi:10.1123/jsm.2016-0117
- Green, C., Duan, N., Gibbons, R., Hoagwood, K., Palinkas, L., & Wisdom, J. (2014).
 Approaches to mixed methods dissemination and implementation research:
 Methods, strengths, caveats, and opportunities. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 508-523.
 doi:10.1007/s10488-014-0552-6
- Greenhaus, J. H., & Beutell, N. J. (1985). Sources and conflict between work and family roles. *Academy of Management Review*, 10, 76-88.

 doi:10.5465/AMR.1985.4277352
- Groen, B. A., van Triest, S. P., Coers, M., & Wtenweerde, N. (2018). Managing flexible work arrangements: Teleworking and output controls. *European Management Journal*. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2018.01.007
- Grönlund, A., & Öun, I. (2018). In search of family-friendly careers?: Professional

- strategies, work conditions and gender differences in work-family conflict.

 Community, work & family, 21(1), 87-105. doi:10.1080/13668803.2017.1375460
- Gurbuz, F. (2016). Physics education: Effect of micro-teaching method supported by educational technologies on pre-service teachings misconceptions on basic astronomy subjects. *Journal of Education and Training Studies*, *4*, 28-41. doi:10.11114/jets.v4i2.1140
- Gurbuz, S., Turunc, O., & Celik, M. (2013). The impact of perceived organizational support on work-family conflict: Does role overload have a mediating role?. *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, 34, 145-160. doi:10.1177/0143831X12438234
- Hall, D. T. (1972). A model of coping with role conflict: The role behavior of college educated women. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 17, 471-489.doi:10.2307/2393827
- Hammersley, M. (2018). What is ethnography? Can it survive? Should it?. *Ethnography* and Education, 13(1), 1-17. doi:10.1080/17457823.2017.1298458
- Hao, J., Wang, J., Liu, L., Wu, W., & Wu, H. (2016). Perceived organizational support impacts on the associations of work-family conflict or family-work conflict with depressive symptoms among Chinese doctors. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 13, 326-338. doi: 10.3390/ijerph13030326
- Harland, T. (2014). Learning about case study methodology to research higher education.

- Higher Education Research and Development, 33, 1113-1122. doi:10.1080/07294360.2014.911253
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38(1), 23-38, doi:10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487
- Hasenzagl, R., Hatak, I., & Frank, H. (2018). Problematizing socioemotional wealth in family firms: A systems-theoretical reframing. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 30, 199-223. doi:10.1080/08985626.2017.1401123
- Haun, S., & Dormann, C. (2016). Disentangling the process of work-family conflict.

 Zeitschrift für Psychologie, 224, 3-14. doi:10.1027/2151-2604/a000233
- Helmle, J. R., Botero, I. C., & Seibold, D. R. (2014). Factors that influence perceptions of work-life balance in owners of copreneurial firms. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 4, 110-132. doi:10.1108/JFBM-06-2014-0013
- Hiebl, M. R. W. (2015). Family involvement and organizational ambidexterity in latergeneration family businesses. *Management Decision*, 53, 1061-1082. doi:10.1108/MD-04-2014-0191
- Hirigoyen, G., & Villeger, A. (2017). Women and power: A theoretical approach using the example of copreneurial businesses. *Palgrave Communications*, *3*, 1-12. doi:10.1057/palcomms.2016.100
- Hnilica, J., & Machek, O. (2015). Copreneurship and its impact on financial characteristics of companies. *Ekonomický Časopis*, 2, 152-166. Retrieved from http://cejsh.icm.edu.pl/cejsh

- Hutchinson, K. (2018). *Leadership in small firms: The x factor*. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-64777-7 3
- Ismael Barros, I., Hernangómez, J., & Martin-Cruz, N. (2017). Familiness and socioemotional wealth in Spanish family firms: An empirical examination.

 European Journal of Family Business, 7, 14-24. doi:10.1016/j.ejfb.2017.06.004
- Iversen, M. L., Midtgaard, J., Ekelin, M., & Hegaard, H. K. (2017). Danish women's experiences of the rebozo technique during labour: A qualitative explorative study. *Sexual & Reproductive Healthcare*, 11, 79-85. doi:10.1016/j.srhc.2016.10.005
- Jennings, J. E., Edwards, T., Jennings, P. D., & Delbridge, R. (2015). Emotional arousal and entrepreneurial outcomes: Combining qualitative methods to elaborate theory. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 30, 113-130. doi:10.1016/j.jbusvent.2014.06.005
- Johnstone, M. L. (2016). Depth interviews and focus groups. In *Formative Research in Social Marketing*, 67-87. doi:10.1007/978-981-10-1829-9_5
- Joslin, R., & Müller, R. (2016). Identifying interesting project phenomena using philosophical and methodological triangulation. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34, 1043-1056. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.05.005
- Kahya, C., & Kesen, M. (2014). The effect of perceived organizational support on work to family conflict: A Turkish case. Research Journal of Business and Management, 1, 139-148. Retrieved from http://dergipark.ulakbim.gov.tr/rjbm

Karim, F. (2016). Transnationalism: A vehicle for settlement and incorporation of

- Muslim Iraqi Turkoman forced migrants in Sydney. *Social Sciences*, *5*, 8-19. doi:10.3390/socsci5010008
- Kaur, G. (2012). Empirical evidences on work-life challenges and coping strategies of dual career couple. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management and Entrepreneurship Research*, *1*(2), 113-129. Retrieved from https://www.apjmer.org
- Kaur, G., & Kumar, R. (2017). Coping strategies adopted by dual-career couples in it sector in India: A case study. *Asian Journal of Management*, 8, 483-484. doi:10.5958/2321-5763.2017.00077.4
- Ke, J., & Deng, X. (2018). Family-friendly human resource practice, organizational commitment, and job performance among employees: The mediating role of workplace spirituality. *Journal of Human Resource and Sustainability Studies*, 6, 81-91. doi: 10.4236/jhrss.2018.61028
- Kengatharan, N. (2015). The nature of work family conflict: A review and agenda for future research. *International Journal of Human Resource Studies*, *5*(2), 163-188. doi:10.5296/ijhrs.v5i2.7630
- Kim, J. J., & Kim, S. J. (2018). Women's leadership in family business organizations. In
 Y. Cho, G. McLean (Eds.), Korean Women in Leadership (pp-141-158).
 doi:10.1007/978-3-319-64271-0_8
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General*Practice, 24(1), 120-124. doi:10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kotlar, J., & De Massis, A. (2013). Goal setting in family firms: Goal diversity, social

- interactions, and collective commitment to family-centered goals.

 Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice, 37, 1263-1288. doi:10.1111/etap.12065
- Kumar, A., & Arain, G. A. (2018). Testing main and interactive effect of personal coping and social support on work family conflict. *Sukkur IBA Journal of Management and Business*, *1*, 87-101. doi:10.30537/sijmb.v1i1.81
- Kunyk, D., Craig-Broadwith, M., Morris, H., Diaz, R., Reisdorfer, E., & Wang, J. (2016).
 Employers' perceptions and attitudes toward the Canadian national standard on psychological health and safety in the workplace: A qualitative study.
 International Journal of Law and Psychiatry, 44, 41-47.
 doi:10.1016/j.ijlp.2015.08.030
- Kurniawan, J. E., & Sanjaya, E. L. (2016). The role of marital relation strategies on business efficacy of young male entrepreneurs with spousal involvement and support as mediators. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, 4, 56-66. doi: 10.4236/jss.2016.49007
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal, and coping*. New York, NY: Springer.
- Lee, J., & Danes, S. M. (2012). Uniqueness of family therapists as family business systems consultants: A cross-disciplinary investigation. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 38, 92-104. doi:10.1111/j.1752-0606.2012.00309.x
- Lefebvre, M. R., & Lefebvre, V. (2016). Anticipating intergenerational management transfer of family firms: A typology of next generation's future leadership projections. *Futures*, 75, 66-82. doi:10.1016/j.futures.2015.10.010

- Leiß, G., & Zehrer, A. (2018). Intergenerational communication in family firm succession. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 8, 75-90. doi:10.1108/JFBM-09-2017-0025
- Li, A., Bagger, J., & Cropanzano, R. (2016). The impact of stereotypes and supervisor perceptions of employee work-family conflict on job performance ratings. *Human Relations*, 70(1), 119-145. doi:10.1177/0018726716645660
- Li, A., Butler, A., & Bagger, J. (2018). Depletion or expansion?: Understanding the effects of support policy use on employee work and family outcomes. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 28, 216-234. doi:10.1111/1748-8583.12174
- Li, Y., Miao, L., Zhao, X., & Lehto, X. (2013). When family rooms become guest lounges: Work-family balance of B&B innkeepers. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *34*, 138-149. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2013.03.002
- Lien, Y. C., Teng, C. C., & Li, S. (2016). Institutional reforms and the effects of family control on corporate governance. *Family Business Review*, 29, 174–188. doi: 10.1177/0894486515609202
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Lindorff, A., & Sammons, P. (2018). Going beyond structured observations: Looking at classroom practice through a mixed method lens. *ZDM*, 1-14. doi:10.1007/s11858-018-0915-7
- Ling, J., Payne, S., Connaire, K., & McCarron, M. (2016). Parental decision-making on

- utilisation of out-of-home respite in children's palliative care: Findings of qualitative case study research-a proposed new model. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 42(1), 51-59. doi:10.1111/cch.12300
- Lundy, B. L., & Drouin, M. (2016). From social anxiety to interpersonal connectedness:

 Relationship building within face-to-face, phone and instant messaging mediums.

 Computers in Human Behavior, 54, 271-277. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2015.08.004
- Mabuza, L. H., Govender, I., Ogunbanjo, G. A., & Mash, B. (2014). African Primary

 Care Research: Qualitative data analysis and writing results. *African Journal of Primary Health Care & Family Medicine*, 6(1), 1-5. doi:10.4102/phcfm.v6i1.640
- Mache, S., Bernburg, M., Vitzthum, K., Groneberg, D. A., Klapp, B. F., & Danzer, G. (2015). Managing work-family conflict in the medical profession: Working conditions and individual resources as related factors. *BMJ Open*, *5*(4), 1-9. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006871
- Machek, O., Hnilica, J., Kolouchova, D., Machek, M. (2015). Are couple-run companies more profitable than professionally managed firms?. *International Advances in Economic Research*, 21, 351-353. doi:10.1007/s11294-015-9528-x
- Machek, O., Kolouchová, D., & Hnilica, J. (2016). The impact of spousal relationship on profitability: A matched-pair investigation of copreneurial firms. *Journal of Advanced Management Science*, 4, 245-249. doi:10.12720/joams.4.3.245-249
- Madden, L., Mathias, B. D., & Madden, T. M. (2015). In good company: The impact of

- perceived organizational support and positive relationships at work on turnover intentions. *Management Research Review*, *38*, 242-263. doi:10.1108/mrr-09-2013-0228
- Malik, M. S., & Awan, A. G. (2015). Role of work family conflict on organizational commitment and organizational effectiveness. *Nigerian Chapter of Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, 3, 115-126. doi:10.12816/0011653
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample size in qualitative interview studies guided by information power. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1753-1760. doi:10.1177/1049732315617444
- Maree, J. E., & Potgieter, T. (2018). Palliative chemotherapy: The perspectives and experiences of South African nurses. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Oncology*Nursing, 5(1), 77-82. doi:10.4103/2347-5625.217443
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Massey, D., Chaboyer, W., & Aitken, L. (2014). Nurses' perception of accessing a medical emergency team: A qualitative study. *Australian Critical Care*, 27, 133 138. doi:10.1016/j.aucc.2013.11.001
- Mathur, R., & Swami, N. (2015). Work-family conflict: Coping strategies to optimize well-being in working couples. *International Research Journal of Interdisciplinary and Multidisciplinary Studies*, *I*(IX), 18-24. http://www.irjims.com/
- Matias, M., Ferreira, T., Vieira, J., Cadima, J., Leal, T., & Mena Matos, P. (2017).

- Workplace family support, parental satisfaction, and work-family conflict: Individual and crossover effects among dual-earner couples. *Applied Psychology*, 66, 628-652. doi:10.1111/apps.12103
- Matias, M., & Fontaine, A. (2015). Coping with work and family: How do dual-earners interact? *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, *56*, 212–222. doi:10.1111/sjop.12195
- Mauno, S., & Rantanen, M. (2013). Contextual and dispositional coping resources as predictors of work-family conflict and enrichment: Which of these resources or their combinations are the most beneficial?. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 34, 87-104. doi:10.1007/s10834-012-9306-3
- McDonald, T. M., Marshall, M. I., & Delgado, M. S. (2017). Is working with your spouse good for business?: The effect of working with your spouse on profit for rural businesses. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1007/s10834-017-9525-8
- Memilia, E., Fang, H. C., Koc, B., Yildirim-Oktem, O., & Sonmeze, S. (2018).

 Sustainability practices of family firms: The interplay between family ownership and long-term orientation. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 26 (1), 9–28.

 doi:10.1080/09669582.2017.1308371
- Meneses, R., Coutinho, R. M., & Pinho, J. C. (2014). The impact of succession on family business internationalization: The successors' perspective. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 4, 24-45. doi:10.1108/JFBM-01-2013-0004
- Meroño-Cerdán, A. L., López-Nicolás, C., & MolinaCastillo, F. J. (2018). Risk aversion,

- innovation and performance in family firms. *Economics of Innovation and New Technology*, 27(2), 189-203. doi:10.1080/10438599.2017.1325569
- Michel, A., & Kammerlander, N. (2015). Trusted advisors in a family business's succession-planning process: An agency perspective. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 6, 45-57. doi:10.1016/j.jfbs.2014.10.005
- Mihelic, K. K., & Tekavcic, M. (2014). Work-family conflict: A review of antecedents and outcomes. *International Journal of Management and Information Systems*, 18, 15-26. doi:10.19030/ijmis.v18i1.8335
- Milne, B. (2014). Using photovoice to enrich appreciative inquiry interviews in action research projects. *AI Practitioner*, *16*, 59-63. doi:10.12781/978-1-907549-20-5-9
- Minarcine, S., & Shaw, C. (2016). Motivations for entrepreneurship. *International Journal of the Academic Business World*, 10(2), 47-56. Retrieved from http://jwpress.com/IJABW
- Miralles-Marcelo, J. L., Miralles-Quiros, M., & Lisboa, I. (2014). The impact of family control on firm performance: Evidence from Portugal and Spain. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, *5*, 156-168. doi:10.1016/j.jfbs.2014.03.002
- Molina-Azorin, J. F. (2016). Mixed methods research: An opportunity to improve our studies and our research skills. *European Journal of Management and Business Economics*, 25(2), 37-38. doi:10.1016/j.redeen.2016.05.001
- Morgan, T. J., & Gomez-Mejia, L. R. (2014). Hooked on a feeling: The affective component of socioemotional wealth in family firms. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, *5*, 280-288. doi:10.1016/j.jfbs.2014.07.001

- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 1212-1222.

 doi:10.1177/1049732315588501
- Morse, W. C., Lowery, D. R., & Steury, T. (2014). Exploring saturation of themes and spatial locations in qualitative public participation geographic information systems research. *Society and Natural Resources: An International Journal*, 27, 557-571. doi:10.1080/08941920.2014.888791
- Moustakas, C. E. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods* (1st ed). Thousand Oaks, CA. Sage.
- Naldi, L., Chirico, F., Kellermanns, F., & Campopiano, G. (2015). All in the family?: An exploratory study of family member advisors and firm performance. *Family Business Review*, 28, 227-242. doi:10.1177/0894486515581951
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and
 Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and*guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research. Washington, DC:
 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from
 hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/Belmont.html
- Nimitha, A., & Manoj, E. (2017). Work-family conflict and family-work conflict among employees across five business sectors in India: Examining the role of individual differences. *South Asian Journal of Marketing & Management Research*, 7(2), 24-34. doi:10.5958/2249-877X.2017.00007.8
- Nkulenu, A. O. (2015). Effect of work-family conflict on quality of work-life in

- Ghana. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 7, 52-61. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/EJBM
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 18(2), 34-35. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Olivieri-Mui, B. L., Devlin, J. W., Ochoa, A., Schenck, D., & Briesacher, B. (2017).
- Perceptions vs. evidence: Therapeutic substitutes for antipsychotics in patients with dementia in long-term care. *Aging & mental health*, 22, 544-549. doi:10.1080/13607863.2016.1277974
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Byers, V. T. (2014). An exemplar for combining the collection, analysis, and interpretation of verbal and nonverbal data in qualitative research.

 International Journal of Education, 6, 183-246. doi:10.5296/ije.v6i1.4399
- Othman, N., Mohammed, S., & Suradi, S. (2016). Motivating factors of couple involvement in copreneurship businesses in Malaysia. *International Journal of Social, Behavioral, Educational, Economic, Business and Industrial Engineering*, 10, 256-259. Retrieved from https://waset.org/journal/Social
- Oudah, M., Jabeen, F., & Dixon, C. (2018). Determinants linked to family business sustainability in the UAE: An AHP approach. *Sustainability*, *10*, 1-23. doi:10.3390/su10010246
- Owusu-Bempah, J., Djirackor, F. A., & Gadegbeku, C. (2016). Dual-earner couples and family spillovers: An empirical study of selected families in Ghana. *International Review of Social Sciences and Humanities*, 10(2), 26-39. Retrieved from http://www.irssh.com

- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533-544. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Parry, K., Mumford, M. D., Bower, I., & Watts, L. L. (2014). Qualitative and historiometric methods in leadership research: A review of the first 25years of the leadership quarterly. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(1), 132-151. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.11.006
- Patel, K., Tchanturia, K., & Harrison, A. (2016). An exploration of social functioning in young people with eating disorders: A qualitative study. *PLoS One*, *11*(7), 1-23. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0159910
- Patton, D. U., Hong, J. S., Patel, S., & Kral, M. J. (2017). A systematic review of research strategies used in qualitative studies on school bullying and victimization. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 18*(1), 3-16. doi:10.1177/1524838015588502
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (4th ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Paulson, D., & Leuty, M. E. (2016). Dispositional coping, personality traits, and effective style relating to conflict between work and family domains. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, *37*, 519-539. doi:10.1007/s10834-015-9470-3
- Peretz, H., Fried, Y., & Levi, A. (2018). Flexible work arrangements, national culture,

- organisational characteristics, and organisational outcomes: A study across 21 countries. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 28, 182-200. doi:10.1111/1748-8583.12172
- Pérez-López, M. C., Gómez-Mirandaa, M. E., Argente-Linares, E., López-Sánchez, L. (2018). The internationalisation of Spanish family firms through business groups: Factors affecting the profitability, and the moderating effect of the family nature of the Spanish business. *Spanish Accounting Review*, 21, 82-90. doi:10.1016/j.rcsar.2017.09.002
- Peters, K., & Halcomb, E. (2015). Interviews in qualitative research: A consideration of two very different issues in the use of interviews to collect research data. *Nurse Researcher*, 22, 6-7. doi:10.7748/nr.22.4.6.s2
- Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012). Ready for a paradigm shift? Part 2: Introducing qualitative research methodologies and methods. *Manual Therapy*, 17, 378-384. doi:10.1016/j.math.2012.03.004
- Peyrovi, H., Nasrabadi, A. N., & Valiee, S. (2016). Exploration of the barriers of reporting nursing errors in intensive care units: A qualitative study. *Journal of the Intensive Care Society*, *17*, 215-221. doi:10.1177/1751143716638370
- Pieper, T. M., Astrachan, J. H., & Manners, G. E. (2013). Conflict in family businesses:

 Common metaphors and suggestions for interventions. *Family Relations*, 62, 490-500. doi:10.1111/fare.12011
- Piszczek, M. M., DeArmond, S., & Feinauer, D. (2018). Employee work-to-family role

- boundary management in the family business. *Community, Work & Family*, 21(2), 111-132. doi:10.1080/13668803.2017.1366297
- Pounder, P. (2015). Family business insights: An overview of the literature. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 5, 116-127. doi:10.1108/JFBM-10-2014-0023
- Pratt, M. G. (2015). Assessing candidate quality lessons from ethnography (and accountants). *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 24, 340-344. doi:10.1177/1056492615574230
- Putnik, K., Houkes, I., Jansen, N., Nijhuis, F., & Kant, I. (2018). Work-home interface in a cross-cultural context: A framework for future research and practice.

 International Journal of Human Resource Management. Advance online publication. doi:10.1080/09585192.2017.1423096
- Rahman, R. A., Mustaffa, W. S. W., Rhouse, S. M., & Ab Wahid, H. (2016). Work

 Challenges and coping strategies of professional and managerial dual-career

 couples in Malaysia. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and*Social Sciences, 6(12), 256-271. doi:10.6007/IJARBSS/v6-i12/2492
- Randerson, K., Bettinelli, C., Fayolle, A., & Anderson, A. (2015). Family entrepreneurship as a field of research: Exploring its contours and contents.

 **Journal of Family Business Strategy, 6, 143-154. doi:10.1016/j.jfbs.2015.08.002*
- Ratnaprabha, G. K., Sindhu, P., Kumar, A., & Kengnal, P. R. (2017). Work or family...?

 Huge conflict in working population: A cross-sectional study in a city in

 Karnataka. *International Journal of Community Medicine and Public Health*, 4,

 3691-3697. doi:10.18203/2394-6040.ijcmph20174235

- Ratten, V., & Tajeddini, K. (2017). Innovativeness in family firms: An internationalization approach. *Review of International Business and Strategy*, 27, 1-28. doi:10.1108/RIBS-12-2016-0085
- Reid, S., & Mash, B. (2014). African primary care research: Qualitative interviewing in primary care. *African Journal of Primary Health Care & Family Medicine*, 6(1), 1-6. doi:10.4102/phcfm.v6i1.632
- Reina, C. S., Peterson, S. J., & Zhang, Z. (2017). Adverse effects of CEO family-to-work conflict on firm performance. *Organization Science*, 28, 228 -243. doi:10.1287/orsc.2017.1114
- Rissman, A. R., & Gillon, S. (2017). Where are ecology and biodiversity in social—ecological systems research?: A review of research methods and applied recommendations. *Conservation Letters*, *10*(1), 86-93. doi:10.1111/conl.12250
- Roberts, H., & Gnan, N. (2017). Welcoming family business into the accounting family: An introduction to the special issue. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 14(2), 1-5. doi:10.1108/QRAM-04-2017-0027
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11, 25-41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Ruane-McAteer, E., O'Sullivan, J., Porter, S., Venderbos, L., & Prue, G. (2016). An exploration of men's experiences of undergoing active surveillance for favourable-risk prostate cancer: A mixed methods study protocol. *BMC Cancer*, 16, 586-594. doi:10.1186/s12885-016-2605-6

- Ruizalba, J., Soares, A., Arán, M. V., & Porras, J. L. G. (2016). Internal market orientation and work-family balance in family businesses. *European Journal of Family Business*, 6(1), 46-53. doi:10.1016/j.ejfb.2016.06.002
- Ruppaner, L., & Huffman, M. L. (2014). Blurred boundaries: Gender and work-family interference in cross-national context. *Work and Occupations*, *41*, 201-236. doi:10.1177/0730888413500679
- Rutberg, S., & Bouikidis, C. D. (2018). Focusing on the fundamentals: A simplistic differentiation between qualitative and quantitative research. *Nephrology Nursing Journal*, 45(2), 209-212. Retrieved from https://www.annanurse.org
- Saarenpää, K. (2018). Stretching the borders: How international business travel affects the work-family balance. *Community, Work & Family*, 21(1), 1-16. doi:10.1080/13668803.2016.1170666
- Sampson, J. P., Hou, P. C., Kronholz, J. F., Dozier, V. C., McClain, M. C., Buzzetta, M., ... Kennelly, E. L. (2014). A content analysis of career development theory, research, and practice. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 62, 290-326. doi:10.1 002/j.2161-0045.2014.00085.x
- Sankar, U. V., Ramanathan, M., & Kutty, V. R. (2017). Using qualitative approaches to develop a complex construct: Measuring socioeconomic position. *International Journal of Medical Science and Public Health*, *6*, 201-209. doi:10.5455/ijmsph.2016.00002016538
- Sarbah, A., & Xiao, W. (2015). Good corporate governance: A must for family businesses. *Journal of Business and Management*, *3*, 40-57.

- doi:10.4236/ojbm.2015.31005
- Sav, A., Harris, N., & Sebar, B. (2014). Australian Muslim men balancing work, family and religion: A positive look at a negative issue. *Personnel Review*, 43, 2-18. doi:10.1108/PR-07-2012-0130
- Schooreel, T., & Verbruggen, M. (2016). Use of family-friendly work arrangements and work-family conflict: Crossover effects in dual-earner couples. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 21, 119-132. doi:10.1037/a0039669
- Schwarz, E., & Lindqvist, B. (2018). Exploring the phenomenology of whiteness in a Swedish preschool class. *International Journal of Early Childhood*, 50(1), 1-14. doi:10.1007/s13158-018-0210-3
- Shoba, D., & Suganthi, G. (2018). A perspective conceptual study of work life balance among women teachers. *International Journal of Advance Research in Computer Science and Management Studies*, 6(2), 34-40. Retrieved from http://www.ijarcsms.com
- Shockley, K. M., Shen, W., DeNunzio, M. M., Arvan, M. L., & Knudsen, E. A. (2017).

 Disentangling the relationship between gender and work-family conflict: An integration of theoretical perspectives using meta-analytic methods. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102, 1601-1635. doi:10.1037/apl0000246
- Simmer, L., Pfoser, S., Grabner, M., Schauer, O., & Putz, L. (2017). From horizontal collaboration to the physical Internet: A case study from Austria. *International Journal of Transport Development and Integration*, *1*, 129-136. doi:10.2495/TDI-V1-N2-129-136

- Singh, A. S. (2014). Conducting case study research in non-profit organisations.

 *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal, 17, 77-84.

 doi:10.1108/QMR-04-2013-0024
- Smith, C. (2000). Managing work and family in small "copreneurial" business: An Australian study. *Women in Management Review*, *15*, 283-289. doi:10.1108/09649420010372940
- Soilkki, K. K., Cassim, N., & Anis, M. K. (2014). An evaluation of the factors influencing the performance of registered nurses at the national referral hospital in Namibia. *Australian Journal of Business and Management Research*, 4(2), 47-60. Retrieved from http://www.ajbmr.com
- Somech, A., & Drach-Zahavy, A. (2012). Coping with work-family conflict: The reciprocal and addictive contributions of personal coping and organizational family-friendly support. *Work and Stress*, 26, 68-90. doi:10.1080/02678373.2012.660361
- Somech, A., & Drach-Zahavy, A. (2017). Understanding the role of personal coping strategy in decreasing work and family conflict. In K. Korabik (Ed.), Z. Aycan (Ed.), R. Ayman (Ed.), Work-Family Interface in Global Context, (318-337). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Sotiriadou, P., Brouwers, J., & Tuan-Anh, L. (2014). Choosing qualitative data analysis tool: A comparison of NVivo and Leximancer. *Annals of Leisure Research*, *17*, 218-234. doi:10.1080/11745398.2014.902292
- Stafford, K., Danes, S. M., & Haynes, G. W. (2013). Long-term family firm survival and

- growth considering owning family adaptive capacity and federal disaster assistance receipt. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, *4*, 188-200. doi:10.1016/j.jfbs.2013.06.002
- Stang, J. (2015). Ethics in action: Conducting ethical research involving human subjects:

 A primer. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, 115, 2019-2022.

 doi:10.1016/j.jand.2015.10.006
- Stewart, H. G. R., & Harwood, I. (2017). Exploring the alchemy of qualitative management research: Seeking trustworthiness, credibility and rigor through crystallization. *Qualitative Report*, 22, 1-39. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr
- Stirpe, L., & Zárraga-Oberty, C. (2017). Are high-performance work systems always a valuable retention tool?: The roles of workforce feminization and flexible work arrangements. *European Management Journal*, *35*, 128-136. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2016.04.002
- Strandmark, M. (2015). Method development at Nordic school of public health NHV:

 Phenomenology and grounded theory. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, *43*, 61-65. doi:10.1177/1403494814568598
- Strike, V. M., Michel, A., & Kammerlander, N. (2018). Unpacking the black box of family business advising: Insights from psychology. *Family Business Review*, *31*, 80-124. doi:10.1177/0894486517735169
- Suess, J. (2014). Family governance: Literature review and the development of a conceptual model. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 5, 138-155.

- doi:10.1016/j.jfbs.2014.02.001
- Symon, G., Cassell, C., & Johnson, P. (2018). Evaluative practices in qualitative management research: A critical review. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 20, 134-154. doi:10.1111/ijmr.12120
- Tang, S. W., Siu, O. L., & Cheung, F. (2014). A study of work-family enrichment among Chinese employees: The mediating role between work support and job satisfaction. *Applied Psychology*, *63*, 130-150. doi:10.1111/j.1464-0597.2012.00519.x
- Teoh, W. M. Y., Chong, C. W., Chong, S. C., & Ismail, H. (2016). Managing work-family conflict among entrepreneurs: An empirical study. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 11(9), 179-191. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v11n9p179
- Terblanche, N. H., Albertyn, R. M., & Van Coller-Peter, S. (2018). Developing leaders by supporting their transitions into senior positions. *South African Journal of Business Management*, 49, 1-9. doi:10.4102/sajbm.v49i1.12
- Thaichon, P. (2017). Consumer socialization process: The role of age in children's online shopping behavior. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, *34*, 38-47. doi: 10.1016/j.jretconser.2016.09.007
- Thamhain, H. J. (2014). Assessing the effectiveness of quantitative and qualitative methods for R&D project proposal evaluations. *Engineering Management Journal*, 26, 3-12. doi:10.1080/10429247.2014.11432015
- Thomas, D. R. (2017). Feedback from research participants: Are member checks useful

- in qualitative research?. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *14*, 23-41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2016.1219435
- Ukwuoma, U. C. (2015). Nigerian Creole as language of instruction: Will Nigerian lecturers use Nigerian Creole?. *Reading and Writing*, *6*(1), 1-8. doi:10.4102/rw.v6i1.75
- van der Merwe, S. P., Venter, E., & Farrington, S. M. (2012). An assessment of selected family business values in small and medium-sized family businesses. *South African Journal of Business Management*, *43*, 17-31. Retrieved from https://sajbm.org
- Venter, E., van der Merwe, S., & Farrington, S. (2012). The impact of selected stakeholders on family business continuity and family harmony. *South African Business Review*, 16, 69-96. Retrieved from https://www.ajol.info/index.php/sabr
- Versey, H. S. (2015). Managing work and family: Do control strategies help?. *Developmental Psychology*, *51*, 1672-1681. doi:10.1037/a0039607
- Vieira, E. S. (2018). Board of directors characteristics and performance in family firms and under the crisis. *Corporate Governance: International Journal of Business in Society*, *18*, 119-142. doi:10.1108/CG-01-2017-0010
- Wahyuni, D. (2012). The research design maze: Understanding paradigms, cases, methods and methodologies. *Journal of Applied Management Accounting Research*, 10, 69-80. Retrieved from https://www.cmawebline.org/jamar
- Waters, J. (2015). Snowball sampling: A cautionary tale involving a study of older drug users. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 18, 367-380.

- Wattoo, M. A., Zhao, S., & Xi, M. (2018). Perceived organizational support and employee well-being: Testing the mediatory role of work-family facilitation and work-family conflict. Chinese *Management Studies*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1108/CMS-07-2017-0211
- Webster, A., Bowron, C., Matthew-Maich, N., & Patterson, P. (2016). The effect of nursing staff on student learning in the clinical setting. *Nursing Standard*, *30*(40), 40-47. doi:10.7748/ns.30.40.40.s44
- Weller, S. (2017). Using internet video calls in qualitative (longitudinal) interviews:

 Some implications for rapport. *International Journal of Social Research*Methodology, 20, 1-13. doi:10.1080/13645579.2016.1269505
- Werbel, J. D., & Danes, S. M. (2010). Work family conflict in new business ventures:

 The moderating effects of spousal commitment to the new business venture. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 48, 421-440. doi:10.1111/j.1540-627X.2010.00301.x
- Wethington, E., & McDarby, M. L. (2016). Interview methods (structured, semistructured, unstructured). *The Encyclopedia of Adulthood and Aging*, 16, 1-5. doi:10.1002/9781118521373.wbeaa318
- White, H. L. (2013). Business couples: Relationships between bidirectional work-family conflict and successful families and businesses. (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Thesis database. (UMI No. 3574019)
- Williams, J. C., Berdahl, J. L., & Vandello, J. A. (2016). Beyond work-life "integration".

- *Annual Review of Psychology*, 67, 515-539. doi:10.1146/annurev-psych-122414-033710
- Winter, S., & Collins, D. (2015). Why do we do what we do?. *Journal of Applied Sport**Psychology, 27, 35-51. doi:10.1080/10413200.2014.941511
- Woodfield, P., & Husted, K. (2017). Intergenerational knowledge sharing in family firms:

 Case-based evidence from the New Zealand wine industry. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 8, 57-69. doi:10.1016/j.ifbs.2017.01.001
- Wu, M., Chang, C. C., & Zhuang, W. L. (2010). Relationships of work-family conflict with business and marriage outcomes in Taiwanese copreneurial women. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 21, 742-753. doi: 10.1080/09585191003658912
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2016). *Qualitative research from start to finish* (2nd ed). New York, NY: Guilford.
- Young, M., & Schieman, S. (2018). Scaling back and finding flexibility: Gender differences in parents' strategies to manage work-family conflict. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 80, 99-118. doi:10.1111/jomf.12435
- Zaefarian, R., Eng, T. Y., & Tasavori, M. (2016). An exploratory study of international opportunity recognition among family firms. *International Business Review*, 25, 333-345. doi:10.1016/j.ibusrev.2015.06.002
- Zaman, S., & Riyadh, H. H. (2014). Work family conflict: A study on employees in

- Dhaka city, Bangladesh. *International Journal of Economics, Commerce and Management*, *II*(2), 1-11. Retrieved from http://ijecm.co.uk
- Zhao, K., Zhang, M., & Foley, S. (2017). Testing two mechanisms linking work-to-family conflict to individual consequences: Do gender and gender role orientation make a difference?. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*.

 Advance online publication. doi:10.1080/09585192.2017.1282534
- Zheng, J., & Wu, G. (2018). Work-family conflict, perceived organizational support and professional commitment: A mediation mechanism for Chinese project professionals. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(2), 344-367. doi:10.3390/ijerph15020344

Appendix A: Interview Protocol and Questions

This interview is aimed at ascertaining coping strategies that copreneurs employ to manage work-family conflict to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years. The participants for the study will comprise of a minimum of three copreneurs in the Greater Accra region of Ghana. Each participant will answer the same questions as outlined in this protocol.

- I will introduce myself to participants and provide an overview of the purpose of the study.
- 2. I give a copy of the consent form to the participant, go over the content, and address any concerns he/she may have.
- 3. I will give a copy of the consent form to the participant after he/she signs it.
- 4. I will request the participant's permission to turn on the audio-recorder.
- 5. I will start the interview by introducing the participant with a coded identification and note the date and time.
- 6. Each interview will start chronologically from question 1 to the last question.
- 7. I will ask follow-up questions as appropriate
- 8. I will end the interview by thanking the participant for his/her time and booking an appointment for member checking follow-up interview.

Process for member checking:

- 1. I will review and interpret the interview transcripts.
- 2. I will write each question followed by a succinct synthesis of about a paragraph.

- 3. I will share a printed copy of the summary of the meaning of each answer provided by the participant for their validation to ensure accuracy.
- 4. I will introduce the follow-up interview and set the stage for discussion.
- 5. I will ask probing questions related to other information found without compromising the IRB protocol/approval.
- 6. I will walk participants through each question and ask whether it is the true interpretation of their answer. I will also ask if they have anything more to add.
- 7. I will continue member checking until there is no new data to collect.

Research Question

The central research question guiding the conduct of the study is: What strategies do copreneurs use to cope with work-family conflict to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years?

Interview Questions

The interview questions below prepared by Eunice Peregrino-Dartey will be used for this qualitative case study:

Initial Probe Question

Kindly tell me about your educational and professional background.

Concept Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to share responsibilities for the copreneurship to achieve business sustainability?
- 2. What strategies do you employ to cope when you and your partner disagree over the allocation of time that each of you gives to work and family?

- 3. What strategies do you employ individually to cope with work interfering with family?
- 4. What strategies do you employ as a couple to cope with work interfering with family?
- 5. What strategies do you employ individually to cope with family interfering with work?
- 6. What strategies do you employ as a couple to cope with family interfering with work?
- 7. What strategies do you use to support each other to cope with work-family conflict to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years?
- 8. What support is available in your organization to help you to cope with work-family conflict?

Wrap-up Question

9. Would you like to share any other information to help copreneurs cope with work-family conflict to help them sustain their businesses?